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Lonrho Overview

Lonrho is a patient capital investment holding company focused on investing in the growth of Africa.
The company has a presence across sub-Saharan Africa and over 100 years of capital investment history.

Lonrho focuses on the consumer sector along two thematic pillars: Food & Beverage Manufacturing and
Distribution (“FBMD”) and Market Expansion Services (“MES”). Lonrho applies capital solely within
Sub-Saharan Africa, seeking unique opportunities and dynamic management teams.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group managed three investments across six African countries. The Lonrho

Head-Office was located in both the UK and South Africa; however, due to the simplification of the
Group, the office was closed in both locations subsequent to year-end.

Footprint

® Atlantis (Held for Sale)
© Big Bottling Company
® Brands
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$52.6m

Lonrho continuing revenue

$0.8m

Lonrho EBITDA

$38.4m

Net cash at bank at 31
December 2022

Highlights of 2022

Operational highlights

2022 was a dynamic year for the Lonrho business which saw the divestment of
the last remaining legacy assets, enabled by a change in the holding structure,
as well as the recognition of Atlantis as held for sale.

The restructure entailed the transfer of Lonrho’s core investments into a new
Mauritius-based holding company.

The remaining legacy portfolio, primarily consisting of Luba Freeport,
LonAgro and Complete Enterprise Solutions (CES), but also encapsulating a
slew of dormant legal entities, was then ring-fenced and sold.

An offer by Atlantis management to buy Lonrho’s stake in the business was

also agreed, although not closed by the end of the year.

Financial highlights

The financials for 2022 reflect the significant changes at Lonrho — particularly
the sale of the legacy assets and the recognition of Atlantis as held for sale.
Continuing revenue of $52.6m in 2022 (FY’21: $47.9m) is primarily
attributable to Brands (Big Bottling is equity accounted for as an associate).
Continuing EBITDA profit (before exceptional items) of $0.8m (FY’21: loss
of $1.7m) includes the costs of the Lonrho overhead.

Exceptional costs totalling approximately $44.2m have resulted from the
impairment of The Big Bottling Company (TBBC), the divestment of the
Legacy Portfolio, the realisation of foreign currency translation as well as the
reclassification of Atlantis as held-for-sale. Atlantis share of profits is disclosed

as a separate line item on the income statement.

LONRHO

Annual Report and Financial Statements as at 31 December 2022
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Atlantis Foods Holdings

HELD FOR SALE (DISCONTINUED OPERATION)
* External
$96.1mMm™ e

$4 ‘ 9m * EBITDA

Atlantis Food Holdings “Atlantis Foods”, South
Africa

Atlantis imports, processes and distributes various
frozen seafood to the South African retail,
foodservice and wholesale markets.

During the year Atlantis achieved strong revenue
growth of 18.8% ($96.1m vs $80.9m in 2021). The
acquisition of Snoek Wholesalers drove an increase
in market share with a positive effect on top line
growth.

Despite a similar Gross Profit in 2022 as in 2021

($102m vs $10.2m in 2021), an exceptional once- 4 q ¢ 31 December 2022, Lonrho held a 68.44%
off other income item in 2021 resulted in a higher shareholding in Atlantis Group.
EBITDA in that year.

4

result for the business in a difficult South African \,
macro environment.

311
EBITDA of $4.9m (2021: $6.9m) was a pleasing E\;?

Note: * Refer to note 4 for information on discontinued operations
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Big Bottling Company
$34.6m o
($ 1 . Sm) EBITDA loss

Big Bottling Company “TBBC”, Nigeria TBBC is equity accounted and contributed an
equity loss of $2.2m for the 2022 financial year,
BBC is a carbonated soft drinks manufacturer and compared to a loss of $0.9m in the previous year.

distributor based in Lagos, Nigeria.
Revenue in 2022 of $34.6m showed a decrease of

2022 was an incredibly challenging year for the 42% from the prior year of $60.0m.

business as a difficult macro environment in

Nigeria negatively impacted. A working capital Lonrho impaired the BBC investment to $nil, a
crisis emerged as input cost inflation outstripped reduction of $10.3m in the financial year.

revenue growth, and a significant pre-payment

liability became more challenging to reduce. Lonrho held a 37.06% shareholding in BBC as of

31 December 2022.

In particular, sugar and plastic resin prices
continued to increase with a devaluing Naira.

Lonrho along with the other shareholders focused
closely on the business throughout the year with
numerous interventions. - THIRST NEEDS

BIG QUENCH
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Brands Consumer Group

$52.6m s

revenue

$1.4m

EBITDA

Brands Consumer Group Holdings “Brands”,
Mauritius

Brands is a Fast-Moving Consumer Good
distribution  business which partners both
international and African brand owners, enabling
them to bring their products to market in Southern
Africa. Our leading brand partners include Lucky
Star, Beiersdorf, Premier Food, Lindt and Ferrero,
to name a few.

2022 was a successful year for the Brands business
as it continued to recover from a difficult Covid
period and consumer spend in the region improved.
The business has also attracted a set of exciting new
Principals and Brands to distribute across the
current operational territories.

Efficiencies were driven through the Group’s
consolidation warehouse in South Africa which
added value to the working capital cycle of the
business.

The business achieved an increase in revenue of
9.8% ($52.6m vs 47.9m in 2021). We are pleased
with this outcome given the depreciating exchange
rates across the countries imply much stronger local
currency growth.

EBITDA of $1.4m was recorded for 2022 (vs a
$0.9m in 2021). We anticipate further growth for
the business as economies of scale begin to
develop.
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Key Financials and Performance Indicators

Extract from the financial statements ($’m)
(Continuing Operations)

Revenue

Gross profit

Earnings Before Interest and Taxation (before exceptional items)
Share of associates income (loss)

Net finance income (expense)

Attributable profit (loss)

Total equity attributable to shareholders

Total assets

Net indebtedness/cash

Cash generated (utilised) by operations

Direct and indirect employee remuneration

Ratios and Key Performance indicators*

"Number of shares in issue(m)
Earnings per share
Gross profit margin (%)
EBIT margin (%)
Return on capital employed
Return on shareholders’ equity (%)
Interest cover ratio
Debt equity ratio
Current asset ratio
Quick asset ratio

Foreign exchange rate movements
GBP/USD

Closing rate

Average rate
ZAR/USD

Closing rate

Average rate

2023

52.6
8.3
0.0

2.2)
0.2

(41.9)
© 693

82.1

36.7

0.9)

(4.8)

649.9
(6.66)
15.8%

0.0%
0.0%
(60.4%)
2.8

0.1

7.6

7.1

0.83
0.81

17.02

16.36

2021
Restated*

479
7.3
(2.9)
(0.9)
0.6
(16.9)
100.5
142.6
46.7
(10.6)
(5.4)

649.9
(2.81)
15.1%

(6.1%)
(2.1%)
(16:8%)
7.9

0.3

4.0

3.0

0.74
0.75

15.93
15.88

*Restated to reflect only continuing operations. Continuing operations include Brands Consumer Group, share in profit (loss) in

TBBC as well as head office entities.
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Financial Review

In 2022, Lonrho generated continuing revenues of
$52.6m (2021: $47.9m). Revenue was primarily
generated by Brands Consumer Group.

Cost cutting measures on head office level
including the restructuring of the Group resulted
in a year on year EBITDA increase to $0.8m
(2021: loss of $2.7m).

During the year Lonrho divested of its legacy
assets, impaired its investment in BBC to nil and
reclassified Atlantis as held for sale. In total this
resulted in a total impairment of $29.6m.

Loss for the year of $41.9m (2021: $16.9m) is the
result of these major structural changes within
Lonrho.

Cash flow and working capital

The Group has a net cash balance of $36.7m
including overdrafts at 31 December 2022 (2021:
$46.7m).

External factors remain a challenge for the Group
and especially local currency volatility against the
USS, but also a shortage of available foreign
currency continues to limit sales and decreases
cash available for use in the Group.

The Group continues to have little reliance on
external funding except for that utilised within its
businesses.

Key performance indicators

The Group manages its operations on a divisional
basis and key performance indicators are set at
this level. The most relevant divisional KPI’s as
well as key Group KPI's are measured and
reported on Group level, which are reviewed and
discussed at each board meeting.
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Outlook

While 2023 will see out the final
complexities on the restructure and the sale
of Atlantis, the result will be a far simpler and
streamlined investment operation.

We are excited to focus managements time
and energy on the core operations and build
for growth going forward.

Lontho will also see various structure
changes during the 2023 financial period.
Significant events after the reporting date are
disclosed under note 37 to the financial
statements.

10
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties

Description of risk Impact Mitigation

Strategic

Failure to successfully implement
our strategy

Decreased return on
investment generated
Minimised benefit from
future opportunities.

Regular strategic reviews
conducted by the Board
Oversight provided through
monthly Executive Management
Committee’s operational review
meetings

Group Investment team provides
expertise and guidance

Strengthening relationships with
local shareholders

Lack of alignment between
shareholders, leading to
diminished long-term
value Increased
complexity in managing
operations and businesses.

Regular engagement by Board and
Investment team with all
shareholders

Operational

Supply chain disruption

Failure to get products to
market.

Thorough supplier monitoring
ensuring prompt identification of
issues, ensuring remedial action is
taken

Consider alternative supply routes
Develop relationships to ensure
working relationship, particularly
with regards to effective payment
terms

Key-person dependency risk

Failure to ensure business
continuity planning.

Identification of key-person
dependencies

Mentoring, work shadowing and
cross-training initiatives

Loss of customers

Severe decline in
revenues, particularly
where a business relies
upon a small number of
key customers

Where businesses are not
yet at scale, there is a
material impact to profit
margins.

Identify new revenue streams,
potentially through additional
customers, new products or value-
added service offerings

Carefully manage cost base and
ensure reductions are made when
necessary

11
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties

Description of risk

Impact

Mitigation

Failure to attract, develop, motivate
and retain talented employees

Loss of key staff
eliminating our internal
succession planning for
key roles -

Short to medium-term
business disruption
Inability to recruit high-
quality individuals for key
roles hinders performance
Employees lack
motivation and
engagement to grow the
business.

e Formal appraisal system in place to
provide regular assessments of
individual performance

e Identification of specific training
and development needs

e Staff development programmes in
place across the Group

e Incentivisation programmes to be
developed

e Succession plans to be agreed for
all key positions

e Improve communication with staff,
particularly with regards to the
long-term vision and strategy for
Lonrho

Technology and systems not in
place to adequately support our
business operations allowing for
unauthorised access such as cyber
attacks

Loss of competitive
advantage.

Significant downtime for
operations.

¢ Functions have been moved into a
cloud-based model with a support
from outsourced service providers

Breaching local laws and
regulations

Financial and/or
reputational impact for the
individual business and the
wider Group.

e Group Legal Counsel involved in
all key matters and contracts

e Processes in place to reduce the
potential for litigation

e Agreed policies to manage any
issues arising, with a view to
limiting Group exposure

Internal or external fraud

Financial losses incurred
Restriction on our ability
to deliver business plans.
Damage to Group
reputation, leading to a
reduction in stakeholder
value.

e Ensure duties are properly
segregated

e Imposition of secure financial
controls, including payment
approvals, bank and finance
systems access

e Internal and external audits
conducted, with recommendations
made at both head office and
subsidiary level and implemented
by the Audit Committee

12
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties

Description of risk Impact Mitigation

Financial

Restrictions on liquidity and cash ~ Failure to meet current e Regular monitoring of Group cash

flow obligations from existing position, cash flow and funding
committed facilities. needs, allowing for early
Unavailability of financing identification if insufficient
required to deliver budget. undrawn facilities are available

e Continued development of the
Group treasury function

e Maintain regular contact with
lenders to ensure renegotiation of
covenants is possible when

necessary
Working capital management Group funding continues e Continued investment and
to be required by existing development of business unit level
portfolio. finance teams
Weakens relationships e Finance teams to focus on working
with our customers and capital management
suppliers. ¢ Group finance function to provide
support, particularly with
introducing policies and procedures
Transfer pricing Potential for regulatory e Development of Group policies
intervention. which can be provided to each
business
e Continuation of Group oversight
and monitoring
e Timely refresh of policies and
guidelines through external tax
advisors
Debt forgiveness Leakage of cash due to tax e Process of capitalisation of group

payments. loans in order to prevent the
triggering of debt forgiveness
provisions in African jurisdictions

Failure of internal controls or Severe disruption to Group e Continuation of independent
accounting processes operations. internal and external audits, with
A materially adverse effect importance placed on implementing
on the Group’s financial follow-up actions
position. e Alignment between internal audit

work plan and Group’s risk profile
and risk management process

13
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties

Description of risk Impact Mitigation

Foreign Exchange risk

Reduced earnings at a o

Group level as local
trading is often
denominated in local
currency.

Match currency of lending entity to
subsidiary cash flows
Implementation of hedging
arrangement where appropriate
Where practical, net offsetting
foreign currency exposures between
Group companies

Investment team to consider trading
currencies when assessing new
businesses

Counterparty/credit risk

Credit losses, reduction in
future profitability and
cash flow.

Approved counterparties and
approved credit limits with regular
review

External

Changes to governance or legal
regimes

Potential for a financial
and/or reputational impact
if found in breach of any
new regulations.

The Group ensures that it obtains
timely information about
forthcoming changes in legislation
and that it has robust procedures in
place to minimise any risk of
detriment or non-compliance
Experienced legal and commercial
teams and comprehensive
knowledge of contractual regimes
and fair practice

The Group has a risk management
programme in place, aimed at
preventing issues from arising
where possible and managing any
that do crystallise

Fluctuations in commodity pricing

Reduction in profit
margins.

Uncertainty in budgeting
process.

Introduce pass-through mechanisms
to end-customer where possible
Manage supplier and customer
relationships to mitigate impact to
Lonrho, and provide time to
mitigate material price changes

Political and/or security issues
including policy changes or civil
unrest

Reduced long-term
prospects for the Group
Short-term reduction in

Group’s financial position.

Management to monitor political
developments across the region
Implementation of robust
procedures to reduce impact on

14
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties

Description of risk

Impact

Mitigation

Group activities

Increasing competition

Increasingly difficult to
achieve long-term growth
plans.

Market pressure to reduce
our margins. .

Focus on developing a strong
competitive advantage in markets
Training of local managers to
ensure they are able to respond to
these pressures, whilst supporting
long-term business growth

Bribery and corruption

Corrupt actions or
practices in the Group’s
activities leading to
prosecutions or
investigations, impacting
on the Group’s reputation
and leading to a loss of
stakeholder value.

Consistent ethical standards have
been established and applied
through the Group’s anti-bribery
and corruption policy, and through
contract and procurement
procedures

Specific training provided to staff
throughout the Group

Regular reviews of compliance
requirements conducted with
periodic Board reporting

Corporate responsibility

Loss of reputation as a
good corporate citizen.

Lonrho remains engaged with the
global corporate responsibility
programme

Reputational damage

Potential for issues with
external financing, credit
ratings and relations with
key suppliers.

Lonrho seen as a less
attractive investor in the
future.

Our strict governance and control
structure help mitigate operational
concerns and investment in people
ensures robust processes aim to
ensure compliance with very high
standards of governance

The Board regularly considers
whether the right tone from the top
is being maintained

Procurement of foreign currency
allocations

Risk of potential non-
compliance with the legal
and regulatory framework
applicable to the Group,
through the use of third-
party service providers.

Adequate due diligence to be
undertaken before engagement with
third party service providers, in line
with the Group’s strict compliance
measures and ABC policies

Advice from local and UK counsel
obtained to ensure full compliance
with the applicable legal and
regulatory framework

15
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Corporate Sustainability

Lonrho believes that Corporate Sustainability
should be a practical demonstration of its
values, to help build a platform for growth
across the Group and in the communities of
which it is a part. Lonrho has fully aligned all
Group policies and procedures to ensure
positive communication and support the
development of all employees.

Training and development

Lonrho believes that the diverse nature of its
workforce is an asset and it continues to
foster an inclusive culture. The Group is
passionate about investing in employees to
provide formal and on-the-job training and
creating opportunities for internal promotion.
Through this work it contributes to
addressing skill deficits within local
communities. Due to its operational diversity,
Lonrho provides staff training in a wide range
of different skills, including accountancy,
procurement, foreign languages, health and
safety, security, food preparation and
dangerous goods handling.

Health and safety

The health and wellbeing of Lonrho’s
employees is of foremost importance, and the
Board’s commitment to ensuring safety
across all operations is ongoing. Lonrho
manages such  risks  through  the
implementation of the Group health and
safety policy and procedures, and takes a
proactive, responsive approach to local
health concerns. As part of this commitment,
regular tests are conducted, and appropriate
external standards are maintained for
emergency equipment and training, with
particular risks identified and acted upon.
Lonrho is proud to foster a culture of shared
responsibility for safety and wellbeing and
invests in the training and equipment
required to fulfil this. It also encourages each
business to develop strategies to improve
their employees’ safety and wellbeing.

LONRHO

Annual Report and Financial Statements as at 31 December 2022

Diversity and inclusion

Lonrho employs people from various
nationalities, providing significant diversity
that benefits the Group. The policy of
employing local nationals wherever possible,
coupled with an emphasis on encouraging
internal promotion, allows Lonrho to offer
staff challenging career opportunities
regardless of their age, ethnicity, religion or
gender. The development of open and
transparent communication across the Group
has led to a strong sense of unity and
inclusion. The Board aims to set a clear
example of open dialogue, replicated in each
of the operational businesses through
Workers’ Committees, regular business
reviews and operations meetings.

Good labour relations/employee
engagement

It is vital to ensure good relationships with
employees, contractors and the labour unions
that represent them is maintained, both for
Lonrho employees and for the Group’s long-
term development. Lonrho recognises
workers’ rights to union membership and
collective bargaining and takes a proactive
approach to ongoing dialogue with workers
and their representatives.

Supporting local communities

Lonrho intends to be a considerate investor
with respect for, and commitment to, local
communities. Throughout the Group, Lonrho
seeks to actively address community
concerns, risks, and impacts in consultation
with all stakeholders including local
communities, NGOs, government
organisations and industry partners.

Lonrho places great emphasis on
transparency and the development of open
and ongoing dialogue to understand both
community and regional issues. It makes
community-specific investments across the
Group, including supporting local schools
and community buildings, improving the
supply of quality healthcare and meeting
waste management needs.

16
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Conducting business with integrity

Ethical behaviour is a fundamental value of
Lonrho and it is the responsibility of all
employees to uphold corporate values and
conduct themselves with integrity at all
times.

Lonrho complies with all legislative and
regulatory requirements of the countries and
regions in which it operates. Its advocacy for
a culture of transparency and responsible
citizenship includes support for associations,
advocacy groups and institutions that bring
together stakeholder groups at a global,
regional and local level.

Anti-bribery and corruption

Lonrho Group has zero tolerance to bribery
and corruption, which is reflected in Group
policy. This commitment originates from the
Board and the high standard is filtered
through to staff in every division across all
Lonrho’s operations.

As part of this policy, all Lonrho employees
are required to sign the anti-bribery and
corruption and Speak Out policies.
Additionally, training and refresher training
is provided for the entire Group on these
topics, and the effectiveness of the
implementation of the policies is routinely
monitored. The Lonrho Group conducts
regular audits through means of dip testing
and any areas of risk are carefully observed.

Each business has appointed a Compliance
Manager, reporting to the Group Head of
Compliance (Chief Legal Officer) who in
turn reports into the Audit Committee on
compliance related matters. Compliance
Manager meetings are held regularly to
review the effectiveness of the policies in
every division.

As an illustration of the importance the
Company places on this area, anti-bribery
and corruption remains a standard item for
the Board and Audit Committee meeting
agenda.

Strengthening the local economy

Lonrho currently operates in 7 countries
across the African continent and contributes
to local communities by providing a source
of employment and generating wealth, as
well as benefiting local economies through
direct taxation and payments to employees.

Environmental sustainability

- Lonrho is determined to play a role in

protecting the environment, and works to
foster a culture of stewardship, through
which employees and businesses understand
and act upon the impact their operations can
have upon the environment. As a Group,
Lonrho is committed to undertaking steps to
prevent and reduce such impacts, to utilise
resources efficiently and use responsible
technology.

The UK’s Modern Slavery Act (MSA)
2015

Lonrho fully recognises and supports the
importance of this UK legislation, which
came into force in October 2015. Lonrho is
actively working with its divisions on this
topic.

Streamlined Energy and  Carbon
Reporting (SECR) Statement

The Group is classifiable as a low energy user
under the Companies (Directors’ Report) and
Limited Liability Partnerships (Energy and
Carbon Report) Regulations 2018. This
statement is also relevant for all the Group’s
UK subsidiaries. All Group subsidiaries
outside the UK are out of scope of the above-
mentioned regulation.

17
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Corporate Governance Statement

UK Corporate Governance Code and compliance

Lonrho is committed to good corporate governance across the Group, for which the whole Board is
accountable.

The principal governance rules applying to UK companies listed on the London Stock Exchange are
contained in the UK Corporate Governance Code published by the Financial Reporting Council and are
available on their website www . frc.org.uk.

The Directors recognise the value of the Code and, while full compliance is not required with Lonrho
Holdings Limited (LHL) being a private company, the Directors have considered the recommendations

and applied insofar as it is practicable and appropriate for a company of its size.

The Company will continue to monitor its corporate governance framework to ensure that it remains
appropriate for the Company, having regard to the scale and complexity of its business.

19
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Directors Report for year ended 31 December 2022

The Directors are pleased to submit their report, together with the audited financial statements, for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

The Company
Lonrho Holdings Limited is a company incorporated in England & Wales, with company number 08502829.

It was incorporated on 24 April 2013 as FS Africa Limited for the acquisition of Lonrho Plc, which was
completed on 19 July 2013, the Company changed its name to Lonrho Holdings Limited on 2 August 2013.

It conducts very limited business activities on its own account and trades principally through its subsidiary
undertakings in various jurisdictions. The principal subsidiary undertakings are listed in note 35 on pages 64
-65.

Results and dividend
The Group results for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out on page 28.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend.
Directors

The Directors who were in office at the end of the period and their interests in the ordinary shares of the
Company are shown below:

As at 31 December 2022 No. of shares

Rainer-Marc Frey (Class A) 275,000,000
Christopher Chambers (Class B) 5,500,000
Dr Frank Richter Nil
Amine Tazi-Riffi Nil
Jean-Claude Garo Nil

Mr Jean-Claude Garo represents the interests of 192,500,000 Class A ordinary shares owned by BIH SA,
which is ultimately 100% owned by Thomas Schmidheiny.

Dr Frank Richter represents the interests of 50,000,000 Class A ordinary shares owned by SKion GmbH,
which is ultimately 100% owned by Susanne Klatten.

All of the above interests are recorded in the Company’s Register of Directors’ Share and Debenture Interests.
No Director has a beneficial interest in the shares or debentures of any of the Company’s subsidiary
undertakings.

Share capital on 31 December 2022 No. of shares

A ordinary shares of $0.5 each 517,500,000
B ordinary shares of $0.5 each 122,940,000
C ordinary shares of $0.01 each 9,450,000

The A, B and C shares rank pari passu, save that the B and C shares have no voting rights. There are no
restrictions on transfer or limitations on the holding of the ordinary shares.
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Directors Report ... (contined)

Exercise of control

The powers of the Directors are contained in the Company’s Articles of Association. These include powers,
subject to relevant legislation, to authorise the issue of the Company’s shares by the Company, subject to
authority being given to the Directors by the shareholders in general meeting.

The rules about the appointment and replacement of Directors are contained in the Company’s Articles of
Association. Changes to the Articles of Association must be approved by the shareholders in accordance with
legislation in force from time to time.

Insurance
The Company has Directors and Officers Liability Insurance cover for Group Directors.

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities in respect of the Annual Report, Strategic Report, the Directors’
Report and the financial statements

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report, Strategic Report, the Directors’ Report and
the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the
directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with UK-adopted international
accounting standards. Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they
are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs and profit or loss of the company and
group for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:

¢ select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

¢ make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

e state whether applicable UK-adopted international accounting standards have been followed, subject to
any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

s prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that
the company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain
the company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They
are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors confirm that:

» so far as each director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the company’s auditor
1s unaware; and

e the directors have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as directors in order to make
themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the company’s auditor is aware
of that information.

To the best of our knowledge:

e the group financial statements, prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting
standards, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the
company and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole; and

¢ the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report include a fair review of the development and performance
of the business and the position of the company and the undertakings included in the consolidation
taken as a whole, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that they face.

21



BocuSign Envelope ID: DEC647B2-164D-4E1C-A9BB-96ABD72EAB75 LON R H O

e Annual Report and Financial Statements as at 31 December 2022

Directors Report ... (continwea)

Going concern

The Group’s forecast and projections, considering possible changes in trading performance, together with
mitigating actions that are within management’s control, show that the Group is expected to be able to operate
as a going concern for the foreseeable future.

Section 172 Statement
The Directors detail below how they have considered the interest of key stakeholders and broader matters as
set out in section 172(1) (A) to (F) below:

(A) The likely consequences of any decisions in the long term:

In a large organisation such as ours the Directors fulfil their duties partly through the governance
framework that delegates the day-today decision to the executive management team. Regular board
meeting combined with both shareholder and shareholder involvement allow the company to ensure
the actions taken by the Group align with the strategy of being a long-term patient capital participant
across a diversified range of markets.

(B) The interest of the company’s employees:

The success of our business depends on attracting, retaining and motivating our employees. The Group
is committed to remaining a responsible employer for pay and benefits to ensure a healthy and safe
working environment.

(C) The need to foster the company’s business relationships with suppliers, customers and others:
Delivering our strategy requires strong mutually beneficial relationships with suppliers, customers.
governments and other partners. By having a diversified portfolio partnering with entrepreneurial
management teams the Group has the ability to maintain key stakeholder relationships.

(D) The impact of the company’s operations on the community and the environment:

The Group’s focus is growth in Africa and in doing so utilising our resources to create positive change
for the people and the communities within which we interact.

(E) The desirability of the company maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct: and
The Group holds a brand of Lonrho which has over 100 years of capital investment history. The
Directors are updated on compliance during regular board meetings. The Group compliance
department engage with the divisions on a monthly basis to ensure any risks are identified and
addressed accordingly.

(F) The need to act fairly between shareholders of the company
After considering of all relevant factors, the Directors identify the best course of action enables
delivery of the Group’s strategy through the long term which considering the impact on stakeholders.

The Directors are carefully monitoring cash resources across the Group and have instigated a number of
initiatives to ensure funding will be available to funds operations. The main operating investment in the Group
remains Brands Consumer Group with approximately $3.3m in debt facilities. Debt facilities are held with
various reputable institutions, namely First National Bank as well as Standard Bank which is renewed every
twelve months.

Following the careful review of on-going performance of Brands Consumer Group together secured funding
in place, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue
operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, they continue to adopt the going concern basis
in preparing the accounts.
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Directors Report .. (coninued)

Events after the reporting period

The Group entered various structure changes after the reporting period 31 December 2022. These include the
disposals of Atlantis Food Holdings and the profit share rights in Luba Freeport; share buybacks by Lonrho
Holdings Limited and a dilution in shareholding of Big Beverages Africa Holdings Limited. Lonrho Holdings
Limited also disposed of Lonrho Africa Holdings Limited Mauritius towards the end of September 2023. None
of the events pose a risk to the going concern of the Group. Details of events after the reporting period is fully
disclosed in note 37 to the financial statements.

Scope of the reporting in this Annual Report and the financial statements

The Board has prepared a Strategic Report which provides an overview of the development and performance
of the Company’s business in the year ended 31 December 2022 and its position at the end of that period, and
which covers likely future developments in the business of the Company and Group.

Directors’ Report 4

When drafting the Strategic Report, the Board has considered social, environmental and ethical risks, in line
with the best practice recommendations of the Association of British Insurers. Management, led by the Group
COO, under the guidance of the Board have responsibility for identifying and managing such risks, which are
discussed extensively in this report and the financial statements.

External auditors

So far as each Director is aware, there is no information relevant to the audit of which the Company’s auditors
are unaware, and each Director has taken all the steps that he ought to have taken as a Director to make himself
aware of any such information and to ensure that the Company’s auditors are aware of that information.

Pursuant to section 487 of the Companies Act 2006, the auditor will be deemed to be reappointed and Grant
Thornton UK LLP will therefore continue in office.

By order of the Board
- X
e
Evan Edwards

Director
09 November 2023
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Lonrho Holdings Limited

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Lonrho Holdings Limited (the ‘parent company’) and its
subsidiaries (the ‘group’) for the year ended 31 December 2022 ,which comprise of a Consolidated Income
Statement, Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, Consolidated and Company Statements of
Changes in Equity, Consolidated and Company Statements of Financial Position and Consolidated, Company
Statements of Cashflows and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and
international accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the UK-adopted international
accounting standards.

In our opinion:

e the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent company’s
affairs as at 31 December 2022 and of the group’s loss for the year then ended;

o the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with international accounting
standards in conformity with the requirements of the UK-adopted international accounting standards

¢ the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with international
accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of UK-adopted international accounting
standards; and

e the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act
2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and
applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the ‘Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements’ section of our report. We are independent of the group
and the parent company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

We are responsible for concluding on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the group’s and the parent company’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our report
to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify the
auditor’s opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the group or the parent company to cease to continue as a
going concern.

In our evaluation of the directors’ conclusions, we considered the inherent risks associated with the group’s
and the parent company’s business model including effects arising from macro-economic uncertainties such
as rising interest rates and the global impact from the conflict in Ukraine, we assessed and challenged the
reasonableness of estimates made by the directors and the related disclosures and analysed how those risks
might affect the group’s and the parent company’s financial resources or ability to continue operations over
the going concern period.

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of

accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.
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Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group’s and the parent
company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial
statements are authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the
relevant sections of this report.

Other information

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information contained
within the annual report. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and,
except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material
misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial
statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:
e the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

e the strategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal
requirements.
Matter on which we are required to report under the Companies Act 2006

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and the parent company and their environment
obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report or the
directors’ report.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006

requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

¢ adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit
have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

¢ the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
¢ certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

e we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement on pages 21 to 22, the directors are
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair
view, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the parent

company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
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and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or the
parent company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. The extent to which
our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below:

¢ We understood how the group is complying with legal and regulatory frameworks by making enquiries of
management, those charged with governance and those responsible for legal and compliance procedures.
We corroborated our enquiries through our review of board and audit committee minutes;

¢ To obtain an understanding of legal and regulatory requirements specific to the entities within the group
we held discussions with all component auditors, requesting that they consider any requirements of specific
significance using their expertise of the requirements in the respective countries in which the Group
operates;

o The group is subject to many laws and regulations where the consequences of non-compliance could have
a material effect on amounts or disclosures in the financial statements. We identified the following laws
and regulations as the most likely to have a material effect if non-compliance were to occur; financial
reporting legislation, distributable profits legislation, tax legislation, anti-bribery legislation, data
protection legislation and employment law;

e We communicated relevant laws and regulations and potential fraud risks to all engagement team members
and remained alert to any indications of fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations throughout the
audit;

e We assessed the susceptibility of the group's financial statements to material misstatement, including how
fraud might occur, by evaluating management's incentives and opportunities for manipulation of the
financial statements. This included the evaluation of the risk of management override of controls. We
determined that the principal risks were in relation to:

— journal entries that increased revenues or that reclassified costs from the income statement to the
statement of financial position.

— potential management bias in determining accounting estimates, especially in relation to the calculation
of impairment of non-current assets and fair value calculations.

— potential management bias in the classification of associates and assets held for sale.
e .Our audit procedures involved:

— Evaluation of the design effectiveness of controls that management has in place to prevent and detect
fraud.

— journal entry testing, with a focus on material manual journals, including those with unusual account
combinations and those posted directly to the consolidation that increased revenue or that reclassified
costs from the income statement to the balance sheet.

— performing testing of inputs into management's impairment calculations and obtaining an auditor's
expert to review inputs to these calculations where required.
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— challenging assumptions and judgements made by management in its significant accounting estimates.

— testing the completeness of the group's related party transactions through information obtained at the
parent and component entities and testing that these transactions had a valid business purpose.

— assessing the extent of compliance with the relevant laws and regulations as part of our procedures on
the related financial statement item.

— In addition, we completed audit procedures to conclude on the compliance of disclosures in the annual
report and accounts with applicable financial reporting requirements.

e These audit procedures were designed to provide reasonable assurance that the financial statements were
free from fraud or error. However, detecting irregularities that result from fraud is inherently more difficult
than detecting those that result from error, as those irregularities that result from fraud may involve
collusion, deliberate concealment, forgery or intentional misrepresentations. Also, the further removed
non-compliance with laws and regulations is from events and transactions reflected in the financial
statements, the less likely we would become aware of it.

o Assessment of the appropriateness of the collective competence and capabilities of the engagement team
included consideration of the engagement team's:

— understanding of, and practical experience with audit engagements of a similar nature and complexity
through appropriate training and participation

— knowledge of the industry in which the client operates
— understanding of the legal and regulatory requirements specific to the entity/regulated entity including:
— the provisions of the applicable legislation

— the regulators rules and related guidance including guidance issued by relevant authorities that
interprets those rules

— the applicable statutory provisions

¢ No matters about non-compliance with laws and regulations were communicated to the engagement team.
No matters of fraud, or suspected fraud, which could result in a material misstatement of the financial
information were communicated to the engagement team;

e For components at which audit procedures were performed, we requested component auditors to report to
us instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations that gave rise to a risk of material misstatement
of the group financial statements. No such matters were identified by the component auditors.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial
Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our
auditor’s report.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of
the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s
members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the
fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company
and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Gl Tl X NP

Nicholas Watson

Senior Statutory Auditor

for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP

Statutory Auditor, Chartered Accountants

London

09 November 2023 27
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Consolidated Income Statement

For the year ended 31 December 2022 and year ended 31 December 2021

2022 2021
. Restated*
Notes Sm Sm
Revenue 5 52.6 47.9
Cost of sales (44.3) (40.6)
GROSS PROFIT 83 7.3
Other operating income 6 24 1.7
Operating costs 7 (10.7) (11.9)
OPERATING PROFIT/(LOSS) 0.0 2.9
Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation 0.8 (1.7)
Depreciation and amortisation 15,16 0.8) 1.2)
Finance income 10 0.8 1.2
Finance expense 10 0.6) 0.6)
Profit on disposal of subsidiary 13 0.7 -
Realisation of foreign currency translations 26 (7.0) -
Impairment of Lonrho Brand - (10.9)
Impairment of the investment in associate 17,24 (10.3) (5.6)
Share of associates 17 2.2) 0.9)
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX FROM CONTINUING
OPERATIONS (18.6) (19.7)
Income tax (charge) credit 11 (0.6) 0.49)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROM CONTINUING
OPERATIONS (19.2) (20.1)
Discontinued operations — Operating profit after taxation 14 4.2 6.2
Discontinued operations - Impairments 25 (19.3) (3.0)
Discontinued operations - Realisation of foreign currency translations 26 (7.6) -
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR “41.9) (16.9)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (41.9) (16.9)
Owners of the Company 26 (43.3) (18.2)
Non-controlling interests 26 1.4 1.3
EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic (loss)/profit per share (cents) 12 (6.66) (2.81)
Diluted (loss)/profit per share (cents) 12 (6.66) (2.81)

*Atlantis Food Holdings was reclassified to discontinued operations. The financial information for 2021 was restated in the Statement
of Cash Flows as well as in the following notes to the financial statements to reflect only continuing operations — Notes 3; 5; 6; 7; 8; 9;

10; 11; 14 and 31.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 December 2022 and year ended 31 December 2021

2022 2021
Notes ' $m $m
Profit/(loss) for the year : (41.9) (16.9)
Other comprehensive income
Foreign exchange translation differences 26 (3.0) 2.0)
3.0) 2.0)
1 . — T - -
Total comprehensive income/(loss) . . T : (44.9) (18.9)1
ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
Owners of the Company ‘ (45.6) (19.5)
Non-controlling interests 0.7 06
I . : o ' |
{Total comprehensive income/(loss) (44-9) . (;879)1
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Consolidated and Company Statements of Changes in Equlty

For the year ended 31 December 2022 and year ended 31 December 2021

Attributable to equity holders of the parent

Share Share Translation  Share option Capital Retained Non- controlling Total
capital premivm reserve reserve redemption earnings Total interest equity
$m $m Sm Sm reserve $m Sm Sm $m
. 1
!AT 1 JANUARY 2021 320.2 320.7 _(12.7) 1.3 . 0.1 (510.6) 119.0 22.8 141.8'
Change in profit/(loss) - - - - - (18.2) (18.2) 1.3 (16.9)
Foreign exchange translations - - (1.3) - - - (1.3) 0.7 2.0)
; - - = - - {
Total comprehensive income - - (1.3) - - (18.2) (19.5) 0.6 (18.9)
Share based payments - - - - - - - 9.3) 9.3)
Shares waivered - - - - - 1.0 1.0 (1.0) -
Increased shareholding in . '
subsndlary - - - - - - - - (0.9) 0.9)
= ;
,AT 31 DECEMBER 2021 320.2 320.7 (14.0) 1.3 0] (527.8) 100.5 12.2 2.7,
Change in profit/(loss) ) - - - - - (43.3) (43.3) 1.4 (41.9)
Foreign exchange translations . - - 2.3) - Co- - 2.3) 0.7 - (3.0
| ) . . . ' \
Total comprehensive income ___ 2.3) (43.3) (45.6) 0.7 (44‘92
Derecognition of non-controlling - - - - - - - (12.2) (12.2)
interest in Atlantis Food Holdings
Realisation of Foreign exchange - - 14.6 - - - 14.6 - 14.6
translations in profit/(loss) ’ :
Correction of non-controlling - - - - - 0.2) 0.2) 0.2 -
interest _
) " K
AT 31 DECEMBER 2022 _ 320.2 . 320.7 - 1.7 1.3 » 0.1 . (571.3) 69.3 ’ 0.9 70.2,;

The notes on pages 33-66 are an'integr:a] part of these financial statements. Refer to note 26 for Capital and reserves note.
The Company had total equity brought forward of $112.7m (2021: $141.8m). During the year the Company had issued share capital of

$nil (2021: $nil), repurchased and cancelled shares of $nil (2021: $nil), dividends received of $0.0m (2021: $0.0m), and a loss for the
year of $41.9m (2021: $16.9m) resulting in total equity carried forward of $70.2m (2021: $112.7m). Refer to note 26 for further details.

30



DocuSign Envelope ID: DEC647B2-164D-4E1C-A9BB-96ABD72EA675 LON R HQ

Annual Report and Financial Statements as at 31 December 2022

Consolidated and Company Statements of Financial Position

As at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 Group Company
e ey e ey
31 December 2022' 31 December '31 December 2022. 31 December
Notes $m! 2021} $m' 2021
|
ASSETS t
Intangible assets 15 I.61 33 0.1 -
Property, plant and equipment 16 1.0 ) 10.1 -I -
Investments in associates 17 0.0l 10.0 - -
Loans receivable 19 ' -! 9.9 -; -
Right of use asset 30 09 i.0 -! -
Deferred tax assets 20 0.2£ 13 - -
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 3.7; 35.6 0.1] -
Inventories 21 5‘52 274 -1 -
Trade and other receivables 22 10.0 24.6 02! -
Cash at bank o 23 38.4?« 482 172! 40.5
Other financial assets 24 16.2 38 1 I.Si 8.8
Asset held for sale 25 8.3 3.0 - -
. t
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 78.41 107.0 _48.7‘ 49.3
i
TOTAL ASSETS 82.!! 142.6 48.8, 49.3
EQUITY l
Share capital 26 320..21 320.2 320.2 3202
Share premium account 26 320.7l' 320.7 320.7 320.7
Share option reserve 26 1.3) 1.3 1.3 1.3
Capital redemption reserve 26 O.Il 0.1 0.1 0.1
Translation reserve 26 (1.7); (14.0) -i -
Retained eamings ' ) 26 : (571 .3)! (527.8) (593.9)‘ (593.3)
. [
Loss for the year included in retained earnings l (43.3): (1 8.2)! (0.6‘)‘ (0.3)
TOTAL EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS | _69.33 100.5 L 48.4!» 49.0
- - - - T P
Non-controlling interests : 26[ 0.9, - 12.2l '} }
- : l -
TOTAL EQUITY I 70.2'; 1 I2.7| 48.43 49.0
LIABILITIES I '
Loans and borrowings 27 0 6‘ 038 A -
Lease liability 30 0.9, 1.0 -ll -
Deferred tax liabilities ) _ 20 0.1l 1.4 : 1 -
Trade and other payables 28 - 0.1 - -
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES - 163 33 -f -
{
Bank overdraft 27 1.7‘ 1.5 I -
Lease liability 30f 03 | 04 1 ' -
Loans and borrowings 27 -‘ 19 - -
Trade and other payables 28 79: 22.3 0.4} 03
Provisions 29 . 0.1 0.1 i -] -
Tax liability 0.35 04 . - -
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES I 10.3} 26.6l ) 0.4‘ 03
- - 1
TOTAL LIABILITIES l " 11.9} 29.9| 0.4 0.3
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES I . 82.l| I42.6| © 488 49.3

The notes on pages 33-66 are an integral part of these financial statements. These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on
09 November 2023. They were signed on its behalf by Evan Edwards Company number: 08502829 P o 31

L



DocuSign Envelope ID: DEC647B2-164D-4E1C-A9BB-96ABD72EA675

LONRHO

5 Annual Report and Financial Statements as at 31 December 2022

Consolidated and Company Statements of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 December 2022 and year ended 31 December 2021

Group Company
[~ 31 Décember 2022; 31 December 2021 [ 31 December 2022 31 December 2021

Note $m. Resmse:: sm_ Sm
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit/(Loss) for the year (41 -9){: (16.9) (0.6) (0.3)
Adjustments 31 20.0 { 185 (0.6), 0.2)
Loss / (Profit) from discontinued operations 227’ 3.2) '5 -
CASH FLOWS FROM CONTINUING OPERATING ACTIVITIES 08 (1.6) (1.2)l (0.5)
Change in inventories (1.8), 0.2) '{ -
Change in trade and other receivables (0'3)§ (4.3) (0~2)‘, 0.7)
Change in trade and other payables O'Si (8.6) (0-2)1 -
CASH GENERATED (UTILISED) BY CONTINUING OPERATIONS (0.8): a4.7) (1.6): 1.2)
Interest received 0-7l 0.1 0~7] 0.2
Interest paid (03)‘ (0.4) - -
Income tax paid (0‘5)' (2.5) '1 -
NET CASH GENERATED (UTILISED) BY CONTINUING OPERATIONS (0.9)‘ (17.5) (0.9)l R
NET CASH GENERATED (UTILISED) BY DISCONTINED OPERATIONS (7-4)! 83 '! -
:NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 8.2) 9.2) 0.9) (1.0)}
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES \
Additions of_properly, plant and equipment 16 (1 ~9)‘ 0.2) ‘: -
Disposal of subsidiary 134 '; 0.8 ’; -
Loan advanced to other financial assets — BBAHL Shareholders 24 (2-5)‘ - (2~5)1 -
Investment in a‘ssociale — The Big Bottling Company 17 a -5)i - (1..5)‘ -
Loan repayment received ‘ -i - 1.6 .
Dividend received — IT Group 1-0( - '! -
Acquisition of minority interest 26 '5 (1 .O)I - -
NET CASH FROM CONTINUING INVESTING ACTIVITIES (4-9)1 0.4) (24) -
NET CASH FROM DISCONTINUED INVESTING ACTIVITIES (0-2)? (1.8) - -
!NET CASH FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES (EB)) 2.2) 2.4) !
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Payment of lease liabilities 0.4). (1.5) - -
NET CASH FROM CONTINUING FINANCIAL ACTIVITES (0.4)l (1.5) -I -
NET CASH FROM DISCONTINUED FINANCIAL ACTIVITES - (1.0) -! -
iWET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 0.4) (2.5) - -E
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (13.7); (14.9) (3.3)} 1.0) .
Opening cash and cash equivalents 467‘ 614 405' 41.5
Net Cash (Overdraft) transferred to asset held for sale at year-end 3-8' - = -
Foreign exchange movements 0.1, (0.8) T -
ICASH AND CASH EQUlVALEN:l'S AT END OF THE YEA]i -23 36.7 467 37.2 . 405,

The notes on pages 33-66 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1. Reporting entity

Lonrho Holdings Ltd (the ‘Company’) is a company incorporated and domiciled in the UK. The consolidated
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022 comprise of the Company and its
subsidiaries (together referred to as the ‘Group’).

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Directors on 03 November 2023.

2. Basis of preparation

Statement of compliance

Both the Parent Company and the consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
UK-adopted international accounting standards. On publishing the Parent Company financial statements here
together with the Group financial statements, the Company is taking advantage of the exemption in section
408(4) of the Companies Act 2006 not to present its individual income statement and related notes that form
a part of these approved financial statements. The result of the Company is disclosed in note 24 to the accounts.

The Group has assessed the differences in application of IFRS (IASB) and UK-adopted international
accounting standards and confirmed that there are no differences that would impact the financial statements if
IFRS (IASB) was applied.

Going concern

The Group’s forecast and projections, considering possible changes in trading performance, together with
mitigating actions that are within management’s control, show that the Group is expected to be able to operate
as a going concern for the foreseeable future.

The Directors are carefully monitoring cash resources across the Group and have instigated a number of
initiatives to ensure funding will be available to funds operations. The main operating investment in the Group
remains Brands Consumer Group with approximately $3.3m in debt facilities. Debt facilities are held with
various reputable institutions, namely First National Bank as well as Standard Bank which is renewed every
twelve months.

Following the careful review of on-going performance of Brands Consumer Group together with secured
funding in place, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue
operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, they continue to adopt the going concern basis
in preparing the accounts.

Functional and presentation currency

The financial statements are presented in US Dollars which is the Company’s functional currency. All
financial information presented has been rounded to the nearest $0.1m. The primary functional currency of
the consolidated entities the South African Rand (“ZAR”). Revenues and expenses are translated at the average
rate for the period. Translation gains and losses are reporting in accumulated other comprehensive income in
total equity.
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Basis of measurement
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis.

The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

. Amendments to IAS16: Property Plant and Equipment — proceeds before intended use (issued on 22
October 2019 and effective for periods on or after 1 January 2022)

. Amendments to IAS 37 Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets - cost of fulfilling
onerous contracts (issued on 1 September 2020 and effective for periods on or after 1 January 2022)

. Amendments to IAS1 — classification of liabilities as current and non-current (issued on 23 January 2020
and effective for periods on or after 1 January 2023)

None of the above standards are effective and therefore have not been applied in the financial statements.

Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with UK adopted IFRS requires Management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets
and liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of -
which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and
underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.

Judgements made by Management in the application of UK adopted IFRS that have significant effect on the
financial statements are:

o The determination of the functional currencies of subsidiaries (note 3(d)) is based on the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the subsidiary operates.

o The determination of the useful life of intangible assets (note 3(c)).

o The recognition of potential corporate, value added and employee tax provisions, the timing and
amount of which are uncertain. Management have analysed the present obligations that exist with
regards to tax exposures in the various jurisdiction’s that the Group operates. The provisions included
estimates for consulting advice, as well as interest and penalties that the Group had been historically
exposed to.

o The classification of investments as assets held-for-sale at year-end together with the disclosure as a
discontinued operation.

Estimates made by Management in the application of Adopted IFRS that have significant effect on the
financial statements are:
o The valuation of intangible assets, detail surrounding the key assumptions in the valuation have been
provided in note 12.

The timing of revenue recognition is not subject to significant uncertainty.

3. Significant accounting policies

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently in these consolidated financial
statements. The accounting policies have been applied consistently in both the current and prior years by
Group entities.
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(a) Accounting policy changes
There are no significant changes to accounting policies across the Group in the year.

(b) Basis of consolidation
Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of Lonrho Holdings Ltd and entities
controlled by Lonrho Holdings Ltd and its subsidiaries. Lonrho Holdings Ltd (the Company) controls an entity
when it is exposed to, or has the right to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.

The portion of a non-controlling interest is stated at the non-controlling interest’s proportion of the fair values
of the assets and liabilities recognised. Subsequently, losses applicable to the non-controlling interest in excess
of the non-controlling interest in the subsidiary’s equity are allocated against the interests of the Group where
the non-controlling interest has a specific exemption from making an additional investment to cover the losses.
Future profits attributable to the non-controlling interest are not recognised until the unrecognised losses have
been extinguished.

The results of entities acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated income
statement from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate. All intra-
Group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

The acquisition of subsidiaries and businesses is accounted for using the purchase method. The cost of the
acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities
incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. The
acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition
under IFRS 3 are recognised at their fair values at the acquisition date, except for non-current assets that are
classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5, which are recognised and measured at fair value less
costs to sell.

Associates and joint ventures and jointly controlled entities
Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control or joint control, over
the financial and operating policies. Significant influence is presumed to exist when the Group holds between
20% and 50% of the voting power of another entity. Jointly controlled entities are those entities whose
activities the Group has joint control, whereby the Group has rights to the net assets of the arrangement, rather
than right to its assets and obligations for its liabilities.

Investments in associates and jointly controlled entities are accounted for under the equity method and are
usually recognised initially at cost. The cost of the investment includes transaction costs.

The consolidated financial statements include the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of equity-accounted investees, after adjustments to align the accounting policies with those of the
Group, from the date that significant influence or joint control commences until the date that significant
influence or joint control ceases.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an equity accounted investee, the carrying amount of
the investment, including any long-term interests that form part thereof, is reduced to zero, and the recognition
of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group has an obligation or has made payments
on behalf of the investee.

The Company records interests in associates, joint ventures and jointly controlled entities initially at cost and
thereafter at cost less provisions for impairment.
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Business combinations
Goodwill arising on acquisition is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the fair value of the
consideration over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities recognised.

When the excess is negative the identified fair values are reassessed to ensure that all acquired assets and
liabilities have been recognised. If, after reassessment, the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the
acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds the fair value of the consideration,
the excess is recognised immediately in the income statement. The interest of non-controlling interests in the
acquiree is initially measured at the non-controlling interest’s proportion of the net fair value of the assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held interest in the acquired entity
are re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in the
profit or loss. When the consideration for the acquisition includes and asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition date fair
value and is included as part of the consideration transferred in the business combination. Changes in the fair
value of the contingent consideration are adjustments against goodwill.

(¢c) Intangible assets
The Group determines whether goodwill and other intangible assets are permanently impaired on an annual
basis or otherwise when changes in events or situations indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.
This requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the assets are
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the future cash flows from
the cash-generating unit and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
those cash flows.

Goodwill
Positive goodwill arising on consolidation is recognised as an asset. Following initial recognition, goodwill is
subject to impairment reviews, at least annually, and measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
The recoverable amount is estimated at each reporting date. Any impairment loss is recognised immediately
in the income statement and is not subsequently reversed when the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its
recoverable amount.

Any impairment losses recognised in respect of cash generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to cash-generating units (groups of units) and then, to reduce the carrying
amount of other assets in the unit (groups of units) on a pro rata basis.

On disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the gain
or loss on disposal.

Other intangible assets
Other intangible assets are measured initially at cost and are amortised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives except for brands, which are assessed as having indefinite useful lives. All other
intangible assets are tested for impairment annually and are reduced by any provision for impairment where
necessary.

On a business combination, identifiable intangible assets that are separable or arise from contractual or other
legal rights are also included in the acquisition statement of financial position at fair value.
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Amortisation of intangible assets is charged on a straight-line basis over their useful economic life, on the
following basis:

Brands Indefinite useful lives
Software 3 years - 10 years
Development costs 5 years - 10 years
Customer relationships 5 years - 10 years
Franchises S years

Customer contracts Life of the contract

(d) Foreign currencies
The individual financial statements of each Group company are presented in the currency of the primary
economic environment in which it operates (its functional currency). For the purpose of the consolidated
financial statements, the results and financial position of each Group company are expressed in US Dollars,
which is the functional currency of the Company, and the presentational currency for the consolidated financial
statements.

In preparing the financial statements of the individual companies, transactions denominated in foreign
currencies are translated into the.respective functional currency of the Group entities using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of transactions. Non-monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the historic rate.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency
at the rates of exchange ruling at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies that are measured at fair value are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the
date that the fair value was determined.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary items,
are included in the income statement for the period. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items carried at fair value in respect of which gains, and losses are recognised directly in equity are
also recognised directly in equity.

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated at exchange rates prevailing at the reporting date. Income and expense are translated
at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period,
in which case weighted average rates are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are classified in equity
and are transferred to the Group’s foreign currency translation reserve within equity. Such translation is
recognised as income or as expense in the period in which the operation is disposed of.

All foreign exchange gains or losses that are reflected in the income statement are presented within financing
income or expense.

(e) Taxation
The tax expense represents the sum of current tax and deferred tax.

Current taxation
Current tax is based on taxable profit for the period. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the
income statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.
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Deferred taxation

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from
the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the tax profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on the investments in
subsidiaries and associates, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be-
recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates substantially enacted at the reporting date, that apply in the period
when the liability is settled, or the asset is realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the income statement,
except when it relates to items charged or credited to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with
in equity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority
and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

() Investments

The Group’s investments in equity securities that are not associates or joint ventures are classified as either
available-for-sale financial assets or assets at fair value through profit and loss. This designation is made on
acquisition of individual investments. For available-for-sale financial assets subsequent to initial recognition,
they are measured at fair value or cost where fair value cannot be assessed and changes therein, other than
impairment losses (see below), are recognised directly in equity. When an investment is de-recognised, the
cumulative gain or loss in equity is transferred to the income statement. For assets at fair value through profit
and loss, subsequent to initial recognition they are measured at fair value and changes recognised within
gains/losses on other investments in the income statement.

Impairment
A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any objective evidence that
it is impaired.

A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more events have had
a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference
between its carrying amount, and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original
effective interest rate. An impairment loss in respect of an available-for-sale financial asset is calculated by
reference to its fair value.

All impairment losses are recognised in the income statement. Any cumulative loss in respect of an available
for sale financial asset recognised previously in equity is transferred to the income statement.
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An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment loss was recognised. For financial assets measured at amortised cost, the reversal is recognised in
the income statement. For available-for-sale financial assets that are equity securities, the reversal is
recognised directly in equity.

(g) Property, plant and equipment
Long leasehold land and buildings are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses.

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets (less estimated residual values updated
annually), other than long leasehold land, over their estimated useful lives, on the following basis:

Long leasehold land and buildings 2% of cost

Short leasehold land and buildings Over the term of the lease

Plant and machinery 10% of cost

Fixtures and fittings 15% - 25% of cost

The gain or loss arising on the disposal of an asset is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the income statement for the year.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned
assets, or where shorter, over the relevant lease term.

Bearer plants are classified as plant and machinery and valued at historical cost less accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses.

(h) Impairment of assets (excluding goodwill, inventories and deferred tax assets)

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of any
impairment loss. Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Recoverable
amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows
have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued
amount in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years.

A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a
revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

39



DhocuSign Envelope ID: DEC647B2-164D-4E1C-A9BB-96ABD72EA675 LON R HO

Annual Report and Financial Statements as at 31 December 2022

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of any
impairment loss. Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Recoverable
amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows
have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued
amount in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years.

A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a
revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

(i) Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Group’s statement of financial position when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand and demand deposits and other short-term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the statement of
cash flows.

Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair value and are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Appropriate allowances for estimated recoverable
amounts are recognised in the income statement when there is a significant increase in credit risk.

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost

using the effective interest rate method.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into.

Bank borrowings
Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

() Capital management
The Board’s policy for the Group and Company is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor
and creditor confidence and to sustain future development of the business.

(k) Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials and (where
applicable) direct expenditure and attributable overheads that have been incurred in bringing the inventories
to their present location and condition. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all
estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution.

() Share-based payments
The cost of any equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value of the
equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by using a Black-Scholes
model. The dilutive effect, if any, of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the
computation of earnings per share. The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity settled share-based
payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of the
awards that eventually vest.

(m) Interest-bearing borrowings
Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent
to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any difference between
cost and redemption value being recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings on an
effective interest basis.

(n) Dividends
Interim dividends are recognised directly in reserves when paid and final dividends are recognised as liabilities
in the period in which they are approved by shareholders.

(o) Provisions
A provision is recognised in the statement of financial position when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will
be required to settle the obligation. If the effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting the
expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money
and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.

(p) Revenue recognition
To determine whether to recognise revenue, the Group follows a 5-step process:
Identifying the contract with a customer
Identifying the performance obligations
Determining the transaction price
Allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations
Recognising revenue when/as performance obligation(s) are satisfied.

ol e

The Group enters into wide range of transactions involving a range of products and services, for example
sourcing and distributing of seafood, agricultural and construction equipment and logistics services. In all
cases, the total transaction price for a contract is allocated amongst the various performance obligations based
on their relative stand-alone selling prices. The transaction price for a contract excludes any amounts collected
on behalf of third parties. Revenue is recognised either at a point in time or over time, when (or as) the Group
satisfies performance obligations by transferring the promised goods or services to its customers.
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(q) Leases
The Company determined whether the arrangement contained a lease by analysing the arrangement related to
a specific asset and whether the Company had the right to control the use of that asset.

Where the company has a right to control an asset, the Company recognised the right to use asset which is
measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments, plus any initial direct costs incurred and costs
to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or restore the underlying asset or site on which it is located, and
discounted using the incremental borrowing rate. The Company has elected to not recognise right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities for short term leases that have a lease term of less than 12 months and or less, and leases
of low value assets. The Company recognises the lease payments associated with these leases as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The right of use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method, from the date of
implementation to the end of its lease term.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the date
of implementation, using the interest rate implicit in the lease, or if the rate cannot be readily determined, the
Company’s incremental borrowing rate.

(r) Borrowing costs .
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset, which
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added
to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement in the period in which they are incurred.

(s) Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated based on the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
during the year. Diluted loss per share is based upon the weighted average number of shares in issue
throughout the year, adjusted for the dilutive effect of potential ordinary shares. The potential dilutive ordinary
shares in issue are employee share options.

(t) Reportable segments
Segments are determined to be the lowest operational segment that the Chief Operating Decision Maker
(CODM) evaluates the result of the segment and allocates resources to that segment. This is based on the
Group’s internal organisation and the financial information provided to the CODM.

(u) Assets and liabilities classified as held for sale

Non-current assets (or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities) that are expected to be recovered
primarily through sale rather than through continuing use are classified as held for sale, once certain criteria
per IFRS § are met. Immediately before classification as held for sale, the assets (or components of a disposal
group) are remeasured in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies. Thereafter generally the assets (or
disposal group) are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell. Any
impairment loss on a disposal group first is allocated to goodwill, and then to remaining assets and liabilities
on a pro rata basis, except that no loss is allocated to inventories, financial assets and deferred tax assets,
which continue to be measured in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies. Impairment losses on
initial classification as held for sale and subsequent gains or losses on remeasurement are recognised in the
income statement. Gains are not recognised in excess of any cumulative impairment loss.
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4. Segment reporting

The Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM) is deemed to be the Executive Management Committee which
monitors the results of the business segments to assess performance and make decisions about the allocation
of revenues. Segment performance is evaluated on:

Revenue
Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation and impairment (EBITDA)

Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that are
allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly corporate assets and expenses. Segment
capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the year to acquire segment assets that are expected to be
used for more than one year.

Inter-segment pricing is determined on an arm’s length basis.

Business segments
The Group has one core continuing reportable segment which is organised around the basis of products and
services which it provides, namely Market Expansion Services (MES).

The central division includes head office costs that are not allocated to the operating divisions.

Geographical analysis
All of the segments operate in various parts of Sub-Saharan Africa.
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Business Segments
Year ended 31 December 2022

Core operating Continuing Discontinued

FPB&D MES Infrastructure divisions Central operations divisions Total
Sm Sm $m Sm $m $m $m $m
. f
External revenue . - 52.6 - 52.6 - 52.6 134.9 187.5:
Inter-segment revenue - - - - - - - -
SEGMENT REVENUE - 52.6 - 52.6, - 52.6 134.9 187.55
Eamings before interest, tax, depreciation,
amortisation and impairment - 1.4 - 14! - 0.6) 0.8 5.7 6.5
Depreciation and amortisation - 0.7) - (0.7)‘ 0.1) (0.8)‘: 0.7) a.s)
SEGMENT RESULT - 0.7 - 0.7 0.7)1 . -I 5.0 5.0
Net finance income - 0.1 - 0.14 0.7 0.8 2.9 3.7'
Net finance expense - (0.3) - (0.3) (0.3) (0.6) 1.7 2.3)
Exceptional (10.3) - - 10.3) (6.3) (16.6) (26.9) (43.'5)i
Share of associates 2.2) - - 2.2) - 2.2), 0.0 (2.2)!
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX (12.5) 0.5 - (]2.0)! (6@' (18.6)' (20.7 (39.3)’_
Income tax credit/(charge) - (0.4) - (0.4)E (0.2)| (0.6) 2.0) I (2.6)3
i . 1, i : g
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR (12.5)- 0.1 | (12.4) (6.8) 1 19.2) (22-7)i (41.9)'
Depreciation of segment assets - 0.7) -1 (0:7) 0.1) (0.8) 0.7) .5
Capital Expenditure - 0.3 -l - 1.9 - 1.9 0.2 2.1

Year ended 31 December 2022

Core operating Continuing Discontinued
FPB&D MES Infrastructure divisions Central operations divisions Total
Sm $m $m $m $m $m $m $m
Segment operating assets - 18.1 -I _ 18.1! 0.0 18.1 - ]8.1!
. i
Unallocated assets - - - -5 55.7| 55.7‘ 8.31 . 64.0:
i
lTOTAL ASSETS - 18.1 - 18.1 55.7 73.8 8.3 82.]‘
1
Segment operating liabilities - 9.5 -| ; 9.5: 24 1 1.9: - I ]].91
; -
TOTAL LIABILITIES - 9.5 - 9.5 2.4 11.9 - 11.9!
]
Depreciation of segment assets - 0.7) - (0.7)5 0.1) (0.8)f 0.7) (].5)5
: : |
Capital expenditure - 0.3 -I 0‘3} - 0.3 0.3 0.6}
Geographical analysis
s Sub-Saharan Rest of| T |
Africa World Total
$m Sn Sm“
Revenue by location of external customers 187.5 0.0 ]87.51
Net assets/(liabilities) 15.6 54.6 70.2‘
Capital expenditure 0.6 0.0 0.6)
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Business Segments (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2021 (Restated)*

Core operating Continuing Discontinued

FPB&D MES Infrastructure divisions Central operations divisions Total
$m Sm Sm $m Sm Sm $m Sm
External revenue - 47.9 - 47.9 - 47.9 157.3 205.2
Inter-segment revenue - - - - - - - R
SEGMENT REVENUE - 479 - 47.9 - 479 157.3 205.2
Eamings before interest, tax, depreciation, - l
amortisation and impairment . ) - 0.9 - 0.9 (2.6) (l:7)" 12.8 11.1
Depreciation and amortisation - 0.7) - (0.7)' (0.5) 7 (]‘2)1' (6.8) 8.0)
SEGMENT RESULT - 0.2 - 0.2 3.1 (2.9)‘, 60 31
Net finance income - 0.6 - 0.6’ 02} 0.8; 2.6 3.4‘
Net finance expense - (0.2) - (0.2)" - ©(0.2) (1.8) (2.0){
+ Exceptional (5.6) - - (5.6)‘ (10.9) (16.5); (3.0) (l9.5)l
Share of associates . 0.9) - - (0_9)! t. 0.9, - (0.9),
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX (6.5) 0.6 - . (59 (13.8) (19.7)‘, 3.8 (15.9)l‘,
Income tax credit/(charge) - 0.2) - 0.2); 0.2) (0.4)} (0.6)| (1.0)5
1 s - " [~
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR (6.5) 0.4 -} (6.1) Qa 4.0)!‘ 20.1) 3 2’ (16.9):
Depreciation of segment assets - 0.7) - 0.7 (0.5) (1.2) (6.8) (8.0)!
Capital Expenditure ) - 0.1 - 0.1 - 0.1 0.9‘ RE
Year ended 31 December 2021
Core operating Continuing Discontinued
FPB&D MES Infrastructure divisions Central operations divisions Total
Sm $m $m Sm sm Sm $m $m
i . .
Segment operating assets - 19.2 - [ 19.2] 0.0I 19.2} 50.3 l . 69.53
Unallocated assets - - i -I -E 70.1 I 70.II 3.0[ _ 73.]j
1 o ) ’ ) y H
TOTAL ASSETS , - 19.2 - 19.2 70.1 .89.3 . 533 -142.6J
: —
Segment operating liabilities - 10.1 -I .lO.]i 2.4' .. 125, l7.4l 29.93
] : ’ ’ ‘ ' T i
TOTAL LIABILITIES . - 10.1 - 10.1 24. - 125 17.4 29.9)
Depreciation of segment assets Y 1 en sl 02 e8] eol
Capital expenditure ] 0.1 1 o | o) 0.9! L0
Geographical analysis
SubSTz?c: R\’t’s(::r‘l’clf Total
$m $m Sm_‘
Revenue by location of external customers 205.2 0.0 205.21
Net assets/(liabilities) 42.0 70.7 112.7
Capital expenditure ) 1.0 0.0 1 .0‘

*Atlantis reclassified as discontinued operations.
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5. Revenue B
[~V ear ended! Year ended
31 December! 31 December
20221 2021
i j Restated
$|n'1 $m
Distribution - 52.6, 47.9
i
Market expansion services 52.6 47.9
' !
Total revenue I 52.6‘ 47.9

6.  Other operating income

[ Yéarendéd,  Year ended
31 December’ 31 December
P Reaed
Sm; $m
]
Management fees charged to Luba - 0.71' 13
Dividend received — IT Group 1.()'; L
Sundry ' ' 0.7| 0.4
Total other operating income ' 2.43 1.7
7. Operating costs e
3 Deocember! 31 December
2022, 202
? 1 Rwale«li
Sm‘ $m
Cost of sales . 443)  (40.6)
Operating costs . (10.7! ' (11.9)
(55.0); (52.5)
INCLUDED IN OPERATING COSTS ABOVE ARE: '
Depreciation (note 15, 16) . (0.8)’? (1.2)

Staff costs (Note 9) . L._(438) (54)

8. Auditor’s remuneration

[~ Yéar ended: Year ended

31 December 31 December

2022 2021

Restated

) $m; $m

Fees payable to the Company’s auditors for the audit of the Company’s annual accounts | -
AMOUNTS RECEIVABLE BY THE AUDITORS AND THEIR ASSOCIATES IN RESPECT OF:

The audit of the consolidated group pursuant to legislation 0.2! 0.3

The audit of the statutory subsidiaries pursuant to legislation ' 0.1! 0.1

Total auditor’s remuneration 0_.3: 04

The non-audit fees in the year were $0.0m (2021: $0.0m).
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9. Staff numbers

The aggregate remuneration comprised (including Directors):

Group Company
[-Yemd-e'd Yearended] Yearended  Year ended
31 December, 31 December! 31 December, 31 December
2022 2021 2022 2021
Restated :
Sm!‘ $m i $m $m
] i
Wages and salaries 4 6[ 5.2 0.6 -
Compulsory social security contributions 0.1 0.1} ° J -
Pensions 0 1‘ 0.1 0.1! -
4 ) 4
4.8, 54 0.7, -

The average number of employees (including Directors): ) ]
[~ vear énded Year ended | Yeéar ended Year ended
31 December. 31 December] 31 December 31 December

2022, 2021 2022 2021
Restated
$m; $m . §m_ $m
Food Supply Chain Management S - -l .
Market Expansion Services : 348{’ 320 -I -
Infrastructure .# - -! -
¢
Central 8'_ 9 8 | -
1 [ ]
| w2 s 8 ;

Remuneration of Directors:

—Vmsig&; Year ended

31 December: 31 December

. . 2022 2021

s, $

Statutory Directors Remuneration . . . _236: 235
: ]

At 31 December ) 236, 235

Benefits in kind and} 31 gezlzilnber 31 December

Base salaries and fees Pensions Bonuses taxable expenses 2022 i 2021

Name of Director $ $ $ st . $ $
Chairman " ' _ [

Christopher Chambers 182,587 25,302 Nil - 28,396 236,285; 235,404
Director ) f

Rainer-Marc Frey Nil Nil Nil Nil Niil Nil

Amine Tazi-Riffi 75,000 Nil Nil Nil 75,00()!, 75,000

Dr. Frank Richter : Nil Nil Nil Nil] . Nill? Nil

Jean-Claude Garo Nil Nil Nil Nil Nilir Nil
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o | Year ended
Year ended: 31 December
31 December: 2021
2022 Restated
i Sm; $Sm
J
Bank interest } 0.7 04
Foreign exchange gain 0. 1[ 0.8
L
Finance income 0.‘8" 1.2
]
Interest on loans repayable within five years and overdrafts (0.3)|, (0.3)
Foreign exchange loss (0.3); 0.3)
(0.6)
Finance expense (0.6)
] .
Net finance income 0.2.; 0.6
11. Income tax expense
. Year ended
Yearended. 3| December
31 December 2022 2021
. .. Restated
Recognised in income statement _ m $m
CURRENT TAX EXPENSE
Current period 0.4 0.2
Withholding tax 0.2, 0.2
'}
Total income tax charge 0.6( 0.4
Year ended
Year ended, 31 December
31 December 2022 2020
YS! . Restated
Reconciliation of effective tax rate  sm, $m
{
Profit/(Loss) before tax (45.5_)}? 22.7)
Income tax using the domestic UK Corporation Tax rate of 19.00% (2021: 19.00%) (8.6)‘ 4.3)
Irrecoverable withholding taxes _ 0.2{; 0.2
Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions (1.4)" 0.5)
Losses not recognised as a deferred tax asset 1.2'? 1.1
Impairment of investments not tax deductible 6.6 1.1
Realisation of FCTR loss not tax deductible 21 -
Other Non-deductible expenses - 04 2.6
Share of profit from associates 0.4; 0.2
Disposal of subsidiaries (0.3), -
£
Total tax charge for the year , 0.6" 04

UK Corporation Tax is calculated at a rate of 19.00% (2021: 19.00%) of the estimated assessable profit (loss) for the year. Taxation
for other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions.

Recognised in other comprehensive income and equity

There is no material taxation effect arising on transactions recorded in other comprehensive income and equity.
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12. Earnings per share
The calculation of the basic and diluted profit per share is based on the following data:

= Ye'&_;dé'd_ Year ended
31 December 31 December
2022' 2021
Sml, $m
Profit (Loss) for the purposes of basic earnings per share being net profit attributable to equity holders of the ;
parent | @3) 82
1
(Loss)/Profit for the purposes of diluted earnings per share (43.3)‘ (18.2)

Number of shares (m)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of basic earnings per share 649.9 649.9
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:

- Share options - -

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of diluted earnings per share* 649.9 649.9

* The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based on the weighted average number of shares outstanding.

[~ Yar-e.n'd'e.d_ Year ended

31 December 31 December

2022. 2021

$|ni Sm

Profit (loss) per share (cents) (6.66)l (2.81)
Diluted profit (loss) per share (cents) (6.66)! (2.81)

13. Profit on disposal of subsidiary

On 7 July 2022, the Group disposed of a subsidiary namely Lonrho Africa (Holdings) Limited - UK for $2.2m. The net effect on
the Statement of Financial Position and the Consolidated Income Statement was as follows:

. "— Yéarended  Yearended

31' Deocrzrz)bzuz: . 3 Dwe%bzﬂl'
Assets held for sale . : ' G.0] -
Cash | | ©.1) -
' Other financial assets : (7.0) -
Trade and other receivables : ' 0.2) ~ -
Net decrease in Group assets | (10-3)! -
Payables _ ) . 0.61 -
Loans - 8.2 -
Net decrease in Group liabilities I 8.8 I -
Net decrease in Group value ' as] -
Proceeds , 2.2 -
:P{oﬁt on dispos:xl of wholly owned subsidiary - . : « ' 0.7 .-

The proceeds of $2.2m was still outstanding on 31 December 2022. Refer note 34 on amount receivable from Lonrho Africa (Holdings)
Limited - UK.
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14. Discontinued operations — Operating profit after taxation

Discontinued operations comprise of Atlantis Food Holdings, Lonagro, Luba Freeport and IT Group. Revenue and expenditure
recognised by discontinued operations are disclosed below.

[ Yéirended  Yearended
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
$m $m
Revenue - 1349 157.3
Cost of sales (116.3)] (125.7)
Other income 0.6 23
Operating costs (14.2)] (28.0)
Operating profit 5.0 ‘5.9
Net finance income 1.2 0.9
Profit before tax ‘ ‘ 6.2‘1 6.8
Taxation (2.0) (0.6)
:Operating profit after tax from discontinued operations 4.2! 6.2
15. Intangible assets
Development Customer Customner Contractual Computer
Goodwill costs Franchises contracts  relationships Brands rights software Total
Sm $m $m $m $m $m $m Sm $m
COST .
Balance at 1 January 2022 [__;23_0._6; __ 06 31 7.6 518 564 36.8- 05 387:‘1]
Reclassification / Transfer 2603 - - - 28)® - - - 0.2)
Additions (2022) 0.3 . - . - - - 0.3
Disposals (228.5) (0.6) 3.1 (1.6) (49.0) _- (36.8) - (325.6)°
."Balance a‘t 31 December 5.0 ; = - - 56.4 - 0.5 61.9l
AMORTISATION AND
IMPAIRMENT o
Balance at 1 January 2022 E(ZZQ.!) (0.6) ‘ @Gn___ 1.6 (50.1) (56.4) (36.8) (0.4) (3851.!)l
Reclassification / Transfer 290 - - - 1.2@ - - - 1.7
Amortisation (2022) - - - - 0.1) - - - 0.1)
Disposals 228.5 0.6 3.1 7.6 49.0 - 36.8 - 325.6 @
‘|Balance at31 December . 3.5) - - - C- (56.4) .- (0.4) ' (60.3)‘
CARRYING AMOUNTS .
At 31 December 2021 1.5 - - - 1.7 - - 0.1 33
le31 December 2022 1.5 - o - - - - b 0.1 16

M Goodwill presented on a net basis in prior years. To present on gross basis, reclassification between cost and accumulated
impairment performed - $2.9m.

@ Transfer to Asset held for sale — Atlantis Holdings Limited.

© Formed part of Lonrho Africa (Holdings) Limited - UK disposal to Gulflog Africa.

Amortisation and impairment charge

The Group tests intangibles with an indefinite useful economic life on an annual basis or more frequently if there are indicators that
they might be impaired. The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on the higher of value-in-use calculations using
cash flow projections and fair value less costs to sell if appropriate. The cash flow forecasts are based on financial budgets and long-
range plans approved by Management and the Board covering a three-year period which are prepared as part of the Group’s normal
planning process. Cash flows for years four and five are based on year three performance escalated for growth rates determined for
each individual company considering historic and future compounded annual growth rates.
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Amortisation and impairment charge (continued)

Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using estimated long-term growth rates. Management estimates the discount
rates using pre-tax rates that reflect the current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the units. If
the recoverable amount is estimated to be less than the carrying amount of the CGU, it is reduced to its recoverable amount. Any
impairment is recognised immediately as an expense.
During 2022, management did not identify impairments within the remaining intangible assets.
o  Goodwill to the value of $1.5m relates to Brands Consumer Group, a business that is currently performing well within
expectation and risk of impairment is considered low.
¢  Computer software relates to the Onestream reporting system in use. The carrying value will become fully amortised during
2023.

16. Property, plant and equipment

Land and Plant and Fixtures

buildings machinery  and fittings Total
$m $m $m $m
COST
Balance at 31 December 2020 92.8 29.0 39 125.7
Additions 0.0 0.8 0.2 1.0
Disposals (85.8) (21.3) (34 (110.5)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange (0.1) 0.7 0.0 (0.8)
Balance at 31 December 2021 6.9 7.8 0.7 15.4
Additions 0.2 1.7 0.2 21
Disposals - - 0.2) 0.2)
Transfer to Asset held for sale (7.8) (7.2) (0.1) (15.1)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange 0.7 (0.3) 0.1) 0.3
)lBalance at 31 Decem,bel; 2022 - 2.0 - 0.5 2.51
AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT
Balance at 31 December 2020 (64.5) (20.7) 3.2) (88.49)
Depreciation charge for the year - 4.7 (1.3) 0.4) 6.4
Disposals 69.7 154 0.9) 84.2
Effect of movements in foreign exchange (0.5) 1.8 4.0 53
Balance at 31 December 2021 I - @48 (05 (53)
Depreciation charge for the year - 0.4) 0.3) 0.7
Transfer to Asset held for sale - 35 0.1 3.6
Effect of movements in foreign exchange - 0.5 0.4 0.9
Balance at 31 December 2022 @y 0.3) (L5).
" CARRYING AMOUNTS
At 31 December 2021 [_— 6.9 3.0 0.2 10.1
!At 31 December 2022 - : - - 08 0.2 1.0
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17. Investment in associates

On the 1 August 2018 the Group acquired a 43.6% equity interest in Duet Big Beverage Africa Holdings Limited. The ultimate
subsidiary of this company is The Big Bottling Company Limited (TBBC), previously known as AJEAST Nigeria Limited. Lonrho
holds a 37.03% effective interest in this company.

TBBC is registered in Nigeria and is a carbonated soft drink manufacturer and distributor, with headquarters and operations based
in Lagos. The investment in TBBC is accounted for using the equity method in accordance with IAS28. TBBC is a private company;
therefore, no quoted market prices are available for its shares.

- Ym&e'd_ Year ended

31 December 31 December

2022 2021

Sm; $m

At beginning of the year 10.0 16.5
(

Additional investment during the year 1.5; -

Share of loss after taxation (2.2). 0.9)
!

Impairment (9.3)1 (5.6)

At 31 December -} 10.0

During 2022 management considered the value of the investment in TBBC. Due to a cash shortage, production at TBBC ceased
during February 2023 generating no cash. As a result, management impaired the investment in TBBC to $Nil.

The following is summarised financial information for TBBC for 31 December 2022:

ol \;emdéd‘ Year ended
31 December 31 December
20224 2021
Sm‘ $m

I
Revenue 34.6l‘ 60.0
Post tax profits (loss) (5.9)1 (2.6)
Non-current assets 21 .7l 26.9
Current assets 7.3 10.7
Total Assets | 200 376
Non-current liabilities 0.75 .
Current liabilities 12.9 21.7
Total liabilities ’ | 136 217
Net assets 154 159

Included in current assets is $0.7m of cash and cash equivalents (2021: $1.1m).

18. Investment in subsidiaries

The principal investment by the Company is in respect of Lonrho Limited (100% owned), Lonrho Trustees (100% owned) and
Lonrho Africa Holdings Mauritius (100% owned). During 2022, the Company disposed of Lonrho Africa (Holdings) Limited - UK
including non-core subsidiaries to Guiflog Africa for $2.2m. A new holding company in which the Company holds 100% was
created, namely Lonrho Africa Holdings Limited (Mauritius).

Lonrho Africa Holdings Limited (Mauritius) holds the remaining investments within the Group, namely Brands Consumer Group,
Atlantis Holdings Limited and Big Beverages Africa Holdings Limited.

The Company’s investments mentioned above are recognised initially at cost. A list of principal subsidiaries is set out in note 35.

The Company’s investment in the subsidiaries is subject to annual impairment testing. The investment in subsidiaries has previously
been impaired to nil (2021 $nil). .
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Yéar ended Year ended
31 December’ 31 December
<2022 2021

i
$m $m

19. Loan receivables

Loans receivable -! 1.8
Luba Freeport receivable ! '{ 6.0
Other financial assets -; 21
At 31 December -Z 9.9
1 The Luba Freeport receivable was disposed of with Lonrho Africa (Holdings) Limited - UK. Refer note 13 and 18.
20. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities
Assets Liabilities
2022 2021 2022 2021
~ -$m $m, $m $m
. i 1 ]
At beginning of the year 1.3' 2.2“ 1.4 G
Rate change impact .g (0_3)‘ .; -
Discontinued operations ' (1.1) i 1.3 -
Origination and reversal of temporary differences ' -; 0.8' -i 23
Tax losses derecognised .! (0,5)' i .
Movement in prior year 2 ((),2)‘ .! -
Exchange differences -! (0.7)‘, . -E -
1

At 31 December _ | 0.2 13 ©.1) (1.4)

The asset will be recoverable in future periods, which is supported by the future cash flows of Brands Consumer Group.

v

21. Inventories

Yéar ended Year ended
31 December” 31 December
2022' 2021

$m ] Sm
Finished goods I 5.5: 274
At 31 December . I 5.5: 27.4

22. Trade and other receivables

Group Company
[ Year ended, Year ended Yéarended’ Year ended
31 December: 31D b 31 December 31 Dy t
2022, 2021 ‘ 2022 2021
$m $m m; $m
Amounts receivable from the sale of goods and services 8.8 222 -} -
Other receivables 13 2.5 1 -
Prepayments and accrued income 0.2 03 0.2 -
Amounts owed by Group undertakings & 0.0 -! 8.8
i
Gross trade and other receivables l 10.3 25.0 [ ) 0.2; 8.8
Allowance for doubtful debts | 03 09| ] .
- 1
Net trade and other receivables l 10.0 24.6 0.21 8.8
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The Directors consider the carrying amount of trade and other receivables for the Group and Company approximates to their fair
value. No interest is charged on receivables. The trade debtors at Brands Consumer Group are pledged as security for their
borrowings.

Movement in expected credit losses

F—'Ye'a?e'ﬁ'déé_. Year ended

31 December 31 December

22 202

Movement in provision for expected credit losses Zos}: i

At beginning of the year ’ ' © 04 1.5

Movement in allowance (0.4){ (1.3)

Utilised | 0.3 0.2

At 31 December , 0.3, 0.4

Refer to note 32 for further information on credit risk management.

23. Cash at bank ) :

[ Yéarended, Year ended

31 December: 31 December

2022 2021

_ i $m

Bank balances 38.4: 482

Bank overdrafts (1.7)_‘, (1.5)
¥

Cash and cash equivalents in statement of cash flows 36.'71 46.7

The Company had a bank balance of $37.2m (2021: $40.5m) at 31 December 2022.

Cash at bank consists of current accounts as well as short-term fixed deposits that are highly liquid investments and readily
convertible to a known amount of cash.

24. Other financial assets

Year ended Year ended
31 December, 31 December
2022, 2021

$m Sm

Loans receivable -: 1.3

The Big Bottling Company 10I 1.0

Big Beverages Africa Holdings Limited - Shareholders . ' 2.5‘ -

Atlantis Holdings Limited 4.2i -

Lonrho Africa (Holdings) Limited - UK ' 9.5 -

VAT receivable : -! 1.5
1

Gross receivables i 17.2 3.8
i {

Expected credit loss — The Big Bottling Company _ Q -0)4 -
1

At 31 December [ 16.2' 38

The carrying values of receivables disclosed approximate its’ fair value.
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Year ended Year ended
31 December, 31 December
2022 2021

$m $m

25. Asset held for sale

N §
Assets held for sale . ! 8.3‘ - 3.0

During 2022 the Group decided to divest in Atlantis Food Holdings at which point the assets were designated held for sale. The
carrying value of Atlantis Food Holdings at the time of reclassification to held for sale asset was $31.1m compared to an agreed
sales price of $12.5m that resulted in an impairment of $18.6m. The sale of the investment was concluded during May 2023.

Assets held for sale in 2021 relates to the Luba division in the Infrastructure segment and the IT division in Market Expansion
Services segment. During 2021 the Group decided to divest of these 2 divisions at which point the assets were designated held for
sale leading to an impairment of $2.9m, of which $1.2m can be allocated to the sale of the LonAgro division. An additional
impairment was raised during 2022 to the value of $0.7m writing off profits made by the asset held for sale as the selling price
remained $3.0m. - . . »

The balances carried within assets held for sale were as follows:

31 Drcember 31 Decenber

_ ==

Net Cash | o ' ¢8) 110
Deferred tax ' (0.6) 0.6
Intangible assets ' 1.7 -
Property, Plant and Equipment 10.1 25.1
Other financial assets C 5.5 -
Leased assets _ : - 03
Inventory 28.9 11.4
Receivables . 19.6 40.1
Payables ) (15.4) (42.5)
Other proviéions ) 0.1 8.1
Leased liability : . - 0.5)
Loans : ' (26) (124)
Fair value adjustment for 2020 ) ’ \ - .7
| ' 33 153
Derecognition of non-controlling interest . (12.2) (9.3)
Fair value of disposal groups 12.5M 3.0
:Impai'rment recognised . : . o . .(18.6)' -(3.0j

Y Allocated to loan receivable of $4.2m and Available for sale asset of $8.3m.
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26. Capital and reserves

Group reconciliation of movement in capital and reserves

Attributable to equity holders of the parent

Share Non-

Share Share Translation option Capital Retained controlling Total

capital premium reserve reserve redemption  earnings Total interest equity

$m $m $m $m reserve $m $m $m $m

AT 1 JANUARY 2021 320.2 320.7 az2.n 1.3 0.1 (510.6) 119.0 22.8 141.8

Loss for the year . - - - - - (18.2) (18.2) 1.3 (16.9)
Derecognition of non-controlling

interest - - - - - - - . (9.3) .3)

Increased shareholding in subsidiary - - - - - 1.0 1.0 (1.0) -

Non-controlling interest dividends - - - - - ’ - - 0.9) 0.9)

Foreign exchange translations - - (1.3) . - - - 1.3) 0.7) (2.0)

] - 1

!AT 31 DECEMBER 2021 320.2 320.7 (14.0) 1.3 ‘0.1 (527.8) 100.5 12.2 1127

Loss for the year - - - - - (43.3) (43.3) 1.4 41.9)

Derecognition of non-controlling - - - - - - - (12.2) (12.2)
interest in Atlantis Food Holdings

Realisation of translation reserve in - - 14.6 - - - 14.6 - 14.6

profit/(loss) * '

Correction of non-controlling interest - - B - - 0.2) 0.2) 0.2 -

Foreign exchange translations - - 2.3) - - - 2.3) 0.7 3.0)

; 1

,AT 31'DECEMBER 2022 320.2 320.7 .7 1.3 0.1 (571.3) 69.3 0.9 . 702

*The Group realised $14.6m of translation losses to profit / loss for the year due to the disposal of subsidiaries. $7.0m relates to the
disposal of Lonrho Africa (Holdings) Limited — UK and $7.6m to the classification of Atlantis Food Holdings as asset held for sale.

Share capital and share premium
Ordinary shares

In millions of 50 cent ($US) shares | . 2022 2021

At beginning of the year ! 649,890,00d 649,890,000
1
IN ISSUE AT 31 DECEMBER - FULLY PAID l 649,890,000 649,890,000

Share capital represents the nominal value of shares that have been issued. The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time. On 31 December 2022, there were 517,500,000 (2021: 517,500,000) class A ordinary
shares, 122,940,000 (2021: 122,940,000) class B ordinary shares in issue and 9,450,000 (2021: 9,450,000) class C ordinary shares
in issue. The A, B and C shares rank pari passu save that the B and C shares have no voting rights. Share premium includes any
premiums received on issue of share capital.

Company reconciliation of movement in capital and reserves

Share Capital Share option Retained
Share capital premium redemption reserve earnings Total
) $m $m reserve $m $m $m
!AT 31 DECEMBER 2020 ' 3202 3207 0.1 13 0 (593.0) 493
Profit for the year - - - - (0.3) (0.3)
l } - |
‘AT 31 DECEMBER 2021 320.2 320.7 0.1 1.3 __ (593.3) 49.0
Profit for the year - - - - (0.6) (0.6)
!AT 31 D_ECEMBER 2022 7 : - 320.2 - 320.:7 0.1 . 1.3 (593.9) . 48.4;
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27. Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

This note provides information about the contractual terms of the Group’s interest-bearing loans and borrowings. For more

information about the Group’s exposure to interest rate and foreign currency risk, see note 32.
o s ey

» 2022 2021

$m $m

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES _
Other loans : ) 0.6) 0.8)
| 06 | (©8)

CURRENT LIABILITIES .
Other loans _ - (0.2)
Shareholder loans ) ! (1.7)
Bank overdrafts tl 72 (1.5)
| an 69

At the reporting date, the Company had interest-bearing loans of $nil (2021: $nil).

Bank overdrafts
Bank overdrafts are repayable on demand and are unsecured. The currency profile is as follows:

202% 2021

$m $m

" Zambian Kwacha (0~4i -
Malawian Kwacha (05; -
Botswana Pula ' ' .08  (L5)
N ‘(1.7)"' a.5)

" The weighted average interest rates paid were 14.0% (2021: 8.0%).

28. Trade and other payables

Group
?02% 2021
A $m $m
Trade payables 62 (1)
Indirect tax and social security liabilities S . 0.2)
Other payables and accrued expenses _ _ .7 (15.1)

| 09 e

Analysed as: ’ l

Current liabilities ) . (1.9 (22.3)
Non-current liabilities . '! 0.1)
At 31 December : (7.9)1 (22.4)

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other payables approximates to their fair value.
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29. Provisions

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had provisions of $0.1m (2021: $0.1m). The Board expects the $0.1m provisions to be utilised

within one year.

2022I 2021

$m $m
At beginning of the year (0.1): (0.1)
Additions (0.1) (0.3)
Utilised in the year 7 0.1; 03
AT 31 DECEMBER 01 (0.1

30. Lease

At the reporting date, the Group had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating

leases relating to property, which fall due as follows:

202% 2021
$m $m
Right of use asset l
Buildings 0.9 1.0
Y 1.0
Lease liability
Less than one year - 0.3 0.4
Between one and five years 0.9 1.0
Income Statement effects
Depreciation - (0.4) (1.2)
Interest expense ~ (0.2)d 0.49)
All leases are on standard terms with no amounts of variable lease payments.
31. Notes to the statements of cash flows
Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
I Restated l
Smi $m: $mi $m
{
Depreciation and amortisation 0.8 1.2{a 'i -
Impairment of Lonrho Brand -l 10.9'( - -
Realisation of Foreign currency translation to profit/(loss) 7()I -' -} -
Impairment of investment in associate 10.3I- 5.6 -I -
Profit on disposal of subsidiary (0.7) : . [ -
Finance income (0.8)!, 0.8) 0.7) 0.3)
! !
Finance expense 061 0.3! 0.r -
Share of associates 22‘ 0.9| ' -: -
Income tax expense 06I 0.4‘. i -
i E :
Adjustments to profit / (loss) for the year 20.0 185, (0.6)! 0.3)
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32. Financial instruments

The Company has no financial assets apart from the amounts owed by Group undertakings included within note 24. The Company
applies a similar approach to credit risk management as the Group. The Directors believe that there are no significant credit risks to
the Company at the reporting date.

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate, market and foreign currency risks arise in the normal course of the Group’s business.

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, policies and
processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group’s management of capital which the Directors consider to be the
components of total equity excluding minority interests. Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout these consolidated
financial statements. The Board of Directors have overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk
management framework.

Credit risk management

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group.
The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with credit worthy counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral where
appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. No collateral is held at the reporting date. The Group’s
exposure and the credit ratings of its counterparties are continuously monitored, and the aggregate value of transactions concluded
is spread amongst approved counterparties.

Trade receivables consist of many customers, spread across diverse industries and geographical areas. Ongoing credit evaluation is
performed on the financial condition of accounts receivable. The Group does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any
single counterparty or any Group of counterparties having similar characteristics. The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because
the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by interational credit rating agencies.

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, net of any allowances for losses, represents the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of the value of any collateral obtained.

The maximum exposure to credit risk on customers at the reporting date was $9.3m (2021: $25.0m), being the total of the carrying
amount of trade and other receivables as shown in the table below:

2022I' 2021

$m $m

Cash at bank 384( 482
Trade receivables : 8.4 22.2
Other receivables - 09 2.8
At31 December - | w71 ma

The ageing of trade receivables at the reporting date was:

l 2022{ 2021

_ Sm. Sm

Not due - N -

Past due 0-30 days 5.1 18.3

Past due 31-60 days 2.6§ 23
. . ' ]

More than 60 days past due 0.7} 1.6
I

At 31 December < - 84y 22.2

The movement on the provision for doubtful debts is disclosed in note 22. Other amounts past due are considered collectible due
to a low credit risk.

The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables by geographic region was:

2022 2021
$m: $m
B ]
Sub-Saharan Africa | 84 222
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Liguidity risk management

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board of Directors, which has built an appropriate liquidity risk
management framework for the management of the Group’s and Company’s short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity
management requirements. The Group and Company manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities
and reserve borrowing facilities by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of
financial assets and liabilities. The Group had undrawn facilities in respect of uncommitted bank overdraft of $1.9m at 31 December
2022 (2021: $35.7m).

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments and excluding the effect
of netting agreements: '

2022
Carrying Contractual 1 year 1to 2to 5 years
amount  cash flows or less <2 years <5 years and over
$m $m $m $m $m $m
Bank overdrafts 1.7 1.7 1.7 - - -
Trade and other payables 6.8 6.8 6.8 - - -
Other loans 0.1 0.1 - 0.1 - -
lAt 31 December 22 8.6 8.6 8.5 0.1 . ]
2021
Carrying Contractual | year 1to 2 to 5 years
amount  cash flows or less <2 years <5 years and over
$m $m $m $m v $m $Sm
Bank overdrafts : 1.5 1.5 1.5 - - -
Trade and other payables 13.1 13.1 13.1 - - -
Shareholder loans 2.2 22 1.7 0.5 - -
Other loans 0.7 0.7 0.7 - - -
¢ 31 December 2021 175 175 170 05 - ]

In respect of income-earning financial assets and interest-bearing financial liabilities, the following table indicates their effective interest
rates at the reporting date and the periods in which they re-price.

2022
Contractual 1 year 1to 2to 5 years
cash flows or less <2 years <35 years and over
$m $m $m $m $m
Cash at bank 384 38.4 - - _
Bank overdrafts (1.7) 1.7 - - -
367 367 - - ]

2021
Contractual | year 1to 2to 5 years
cash flows or less <2 years <5 years and over
$m $m $m $m $m
Cash at bank 48.2 48.2 - - -
Loans 29 (24) 0.5) - -
Bank overdrafts (1.5) (1.5) - - -
438 443 (0.5) - 1

The effective interest rates are 3.7% for cash and cash equivalents, 0.0% for loans. Finance lease liabilities and bank overdrafts have an
effective interest rate of 11.2% and 14.0% respectively.
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Foreign currency risk management

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on sales, purchases and borrowings that are denominated in a currency other than United
States Dollars. The currencies giving rise to this risk are, UK Pounds Sterling, South African Rand, Mozambique Metical, Zambian
Kwacha, Angolan Kwanza, Malawian Kwacha and Namibian Dollar.

The carrying amount of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities, and its total net assets at the
reporting date is as follows:

Monetary net assets  Total net assets

[ 2022 2021,' 2022 2021
$m m $m $m
South African Rand 07« 6): 148 454
Mozambican Metical -! 4. 1)t -: 0.0
Zambian Kwacha (0.85 0. 0I 0.7 0.8
i
Angolan Kwanza 1 0.3) -2 0.0
Malawian Kwacha (0.25 0.1 0.6 0.9
Namibian Dollar -3 0.0 l -i 0.1
] i
Botswana Pula 0.3' l -5.311 5.1
US Dollar 37.Q (56. 2) 48.8 60.4
] 1
Total 37.0] (60.1)I » 70.2‘ 112.7
The following significant exchange rates applied during the year:
Average rate Closing rate
[T72022 202 2022 202
UK Pounds Sterling 0.8; 0. 7i 0.8: 0.7
South African Rand 16.4 14. 8ll 17.% 15.9
Mozambican Metical ' 63.8{ . 65.9'| 63.8I 63.8
Zambian Kwacha 16.9 20.0‘* 18.1] 16.7
Tanzanian Shilling ' 2,325.8I 2,314.9I ' 2,332.'5" 2,303.7
Ethiopian Birr 51.9i 43.8 53.6 49.3
Angolan Kwanza 460.9! 625.4: 503.7: 550.6
Malawian Kwacha 936.3! 7992{ 1,023.01 814.2
Rwandan Franc 1,037.0l 1,000.0, 1,067.0 1,031.8
Botswana Pula 123 11.1 12'.8]' 11.7
Namibian Dollar 16.4 14.8 17.0 15.9

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

A 10% strengthening of the US Dollar against the following currencies at 31 December would have increased/(decreased) equity by the
amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant.

Equity
2022 2021
v . $m: $m
South African Rand : (1.6)' (5.0)
{
Botswana Pula (0.5) (0.6)
Zambian Kwacha (0-1)T -
{
Malawian Kwacha L (0.1) 0.1

A 10% weakening of US Dollars against the above currencies at 31 December would have had the equal but opposite effect on the above
currencies to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all other variables remain constant.
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Interest rate risk management
The Group is exposed to interest rate changes on its floating rate borrowings, arising principally from changes in borrowing rates in US
Dollar, South African Rand, Mozambican Metical and UK Pounds Sterling.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial assets and financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management section
of this note.

Capital management

The Board’s policy for the Group and Company is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market
confidence and to sustain future development of the business. The Board of Directors monitors the return on capital, which the Group
defines as net operating income divided by total shareholders’ equity, excluding non-controlling interests.

As the Group is in a phase of expansion, the key capital requirements are to ensure that funding is available for current and
planned projects.

The Group considers shareholder’s funds plus long-term debt to represent capital as defined by IAS 1. The Group currently has no target
debt to equity funding range. :

The Directors keep the capital structure of the Group under review.

Fair value measurement hierarchy

The fair value of assets and liabilities can be classed in three levels:

Level 1 - Fair values measured using quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 - Fair values measured using inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

Level 3 - Fair values measured using inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (i.e. unobservable inputs).

The fair value of derivative instrument liabilities at 31 December 2022 was $nil (2021: $nil), which is Level 2 tier per the hierarchy above.

Fair values

The fair value of a financial instrument is the price at which one party would assume the rights and/or duties of another party.

The following summarises the major methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of financial instruments at the balance

sheet date.

a. Trade and other receivables/payables - For receivables/payables with a remaining life of less than one year, the notional amount is
deemed to reflect the fair value. All other receivables/payables are discounted to determine the fair value.

b. Finance lease liabilities - The fair value is estimated as the present value of future cash flows, discounted at market interest rates for

homogeneous lease agreements. The estimated fair values reflect changes in interest rates.

. Loans and borrowings - Fair value is calculated based on discounted expected future principal and interest cash flows.

. Convertible bond - Fair value is calculated with reference to the quoted price (unadjusted) of the instrument in an active market.

e. Debt-related derivative financial instruments - The fair value is calculated by discounting expected future cash flows and translating
at the appropriate balance sheet rates.

[N e]

The following table compares the estimated fair values of certain financial assets and liabilities to their carrying values at the balance

sheet date.

' Net carrying amount Estimated fair value
TTT2022 0 2021 72022 2021
$m $m; $m: $m

CURRENT ASSETS l
. Trade and other receivables 10.0 24.6‘, 10.0, 24.6
Cash at bank 38.4 48'2; 38.4 48.2

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ‘ l
Loans and borrowings ‘ (0.6) 0.1) (0.6) 0.1)

CURRENT LIABILITIES l
Loans and borrowings - -(1 .O)l -l (1.0)
Bank overdrafts : (7)) (1 .5) (1.7) (1.5)
Trade and other payables (19 (s l)i (79 (13.1)

The estimated fair values of the remaining financial assets and liabilities are consistent with their carrying values at the balance sheet date.
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33. Capital commitments

The Company had $nil capital commitments at 31 December 2022 (2021: $nil).

34, Related parties

The Group was controlled by Lonrho Holdings Limited incorporated in the United Kingdom at 31 December 2023. Subsequent to year-
end, various transaction as disclosed in note 37 were entered into, resulting in Evan Edwards and Sean Walbridge becoming the ultimate
controlling parties of the Group.

Transactions with subsidiaries and associates

Only related party transactions and balances are disclosed that do not eliminate on Group level.

Related party balances are outstanding as at 31 December 2022:

Y T

2022 2021
$mf $m

Loans receivable disclosed as Other financial assets
Luba Freeport (1) ] 6.0
The Big Bottling Company % 'i 1.0
Big Beverages Africa Holdings Limited shareholders ©) 25] 0.0
Lonrho Africa (Holdings) Limited — UK 9~51 0.0
Atlantis Holdings Limited ¢ 4.2 -
Atlantis shareholders ¢ '! 1.7

(1) Luba Freeport was disposed of to Gulflog Africa during 2023.

2) Loan impaired to $0.0 during 2023.

(3) Loan fully recovered during February 2023

{4) Loan partly recovered at the date on these financial statements. Balance outstanding equates to $1.3m.

(5) Loan fully recovered during June 2023.

(6) Atlantis classified as asset held for sale at 31 December 2022. As a result, no balance to disclose for 2022.

Transactions with other related parties

Transactions with key Management personnel
Key Management personnel are the Company’s Executive Committee and the Board.

During 2022 the Executive Committee comprised of Bruno Sidler, Ashleigh Woolf, Suvarna Issirinarain, Evan Edwards and Nicolaas
Ferreira.

Bruno Sidler and Suvarna Issirinarain resigned on 8§ March 2022 and 11 March 2022, respectively. Ashleigh Woolf and Evan Edwards
was employed during the entire 2022; however, due to the Group developments as disclosed in Note 36, the Executive Committee was
retrenched on 30 June 2023.

The key Management personnel compensations are as follows:

20221» 2021

$m $m
§

Short-term employee benefits 0.8‘, 1.0
K]

0'84 1.0

Total remuneration is included in wages and salaries (see note 8)
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Ownership interest

I 2022

2024

Registered address

December 2022

Ciass of
share held in
subsidiary
undertaking

Registered
number

Big Africa Ventures Limited

Mauritius

37%

37%

24 Cybercity, 5th Floor, Ebene
Esplanade, Ebene, Mauritius

151199 Ordinary

Cenon Holdings (Pty) Ltd

South Africa

100%

100%

First Floor Sandton Gate Building A
25 Minerva Avenue

Sandton

Johannesburg

South Africa

2146

South Africa

2015/400061/07 Ordinary

Big Beverages Africa Holdings Limited

Mauritius

43.6%

43.6%

24 Cybercity, S™ Floor, Ebene
Esplanade, Ebene, Mauritius

C144000 Ordinary

Lonrho Investments Ltd

United Kingdom

100%

100%

20-22 Wenlock Road, London,
England, N1 7GU, UK

05840279 Ordinary

Lonrho Johannesburg (Pty) Ltd

South Africa

100%

100%

First Floor Sandton Gate Building A
25 Minerva Avenue

Sandton

Johannesburg

South Africa

2146

South Africa

2014/13826/07 Ordinary

Lonrho Limited

United Kingdom

100%

100%

20-22 Wenlock Road, London,
England, N1 7GU, UK

102805337

Ordinary

Lonrho Trustees Limited

United Kingdom

100%

100%

20-22 Wenlock Road, London,
England, N1 7GU, UK

10180552 Ordinary

The Big Bottling Company Limited

Nigeria

37.03%

37.03%

252E Muri Okunola Street, Victoria
Island, Lagos Nigeria

1093395 Ordinary

Brands Consumer Group Holding

Mauritius

83.7%

83.7%

Level 2 Alexander House, Silicon
Avenue, Ebene Cybercity, Mauritius,
72201

C139895 Ordinary

Brands Consumer Group (Mauritius) Ltd

Mauritius

83.7%

83.7%

Level 2 Alexander House, Silicon
Avenue, Ebene Cybercity
Mauritius, 72201

144592 Ordinary

Brands Africa Ltd

Zambia

83.7%

83.7%

Sub COS Sub 34 of Farm 397A
York Commercial Park, Makeni
Lusaka, 35637

Zambia

95157 Ordinary

Brands Africa Ltd

Malawi

83.7%

83.7%

Grevilla Avenue, Limbe
CC383A, Malawi

MBRS 1012368 Ordinary

BCG Supply Chain (Pty) Ltd

South Africa

83.7%

83.7%

Ruwag Building City Deep
Production, 83 Heidelberg Road
City Deep, Gauteng, 2197
South Africa

2016/296383/07Ordinary

BCG Supply Chain (Pty) Ltd

Botswana

' 83.7%

83.7%

Plot 465, Mathangwane Road
Extension 4, POBOX 46699, Village,
Gaborone, Botswana

C02017/21279 Ordinary

Safari Distributors (Pty) Ltd

Botswana

83.7%

83.7%

Gaborone Plot 50370, Acumen Park,
Fairgounds Office Park
Gaborone, Botswana

2000/2830 Ordinary

Brands Africa (Namibia) (Proprietary)
Limited

Namibia

83.7% -

83.7%

Unit 6, Plenarg Industrial Park
Gold Street Prosperita
Windhoek

198

Namibia

2018/0654 Ordinary

Dumela Brands Africa Botswana Proprietary Botswana

83.7%

83.7%

Grant Thornton Business Services

UIN Ordinary
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Ownership interest Class of
. share held in
——1 Registered subsidiary
Country of incorporation 2022 | 2024 Registered address number undertaking
Limited (set up 1 April 2020) ! Plot 50370, Acumen Park, BW0000159857
i Fairgrounds 7
Gaborone
, Botswana
Brands Consumer Group South Africa (PTY) South Africa 83.7% f 83.7% Longlake 15 2021/545465/07Ordinary
Limited ! Heaton Lane
Linbro Park
| Johannesburg
| 2090
i. South Africa
Subsidiaries classified as assets held for sale:
0
Atlantis Seafood Distributors (Pty) Ltd South Africa 68.44% 1 65.83% 169 Neil Hare Road Atlantis 2003/006029/07 Ordinary
. Industrial, Cape Town 7349, South
! Africa
Atlantis Food Holdings (Pty) Limited South Africa 68.44% 65.83% 169 Neil Hare Road, Atlantis 2009/012426/07 Ordinary
Industrial, Cape Town 7349, South
i Africa
- ! . R . .
Siyanqoba Fishing (Pty) Ltd South Africa 68.44% . 65.83% 169 Neil Hare Road Atlantis 2010/024361/07Ordinary
(formerly Atlantis Retail Services (Pty) Ltd) j Industnial, Cape Town 7349, South
i _Aﬁ-ica
Supapackers Holdings (Pty) Ltd South Africa 68.44% l 65.83% . . . 2010/009574/07 Ordinary
169 Neil Hare Road Atlantis Industrial,
} Cape Town 7349, South Africa
Breco Holdings Proprietary Limited South Africa 68.44% 65.83% 4 Printers Way Printers Park 1996/008679/07 Ordinary
. Montague Gardens Millerton, Cape
Town, 7741
Breco Proprietary Limited South Africa " 68.44% 1 65.83% 4 Printers Way Printers Park 1995/002205/07 Ordinary
" Montague Gardens Millerton, Cape
A Town, 7741

Exchange control procedures exist in Mozambique and South Africa, which place restrictions on repatriation of cash to the

Group.

36. Contingent liabilities

The Group had the following contingent liabilities at year-end:

1.

Lanzal

Exposure: $158K against Atlantis Food Holdings

20 March 2019, Breco (The Defendant) received a summons from Lanzal Productos Del Mar S.L (The Plaintiff) who are
requesting payment of the overdue amount of $158,400.00, interest and legal costs incurred. Breco was supplied with two
containers of shrimp worth $158,400.00 provided by Lanzal Productos. Unbeknown to Breco, they made a payment
(Invoice FV/1483, dated November 30, 2017) to Lanzal Productos to the incorrect bank account due to a fraudulent email
received from a Lanzal email address, requesting payment to be made to a bank account not owned or affiliated with
Lanzal. Breco therefore still owe Lanzal Productos Del Mar S.L the amount of $158 400, and they are requesting payment.

Agbara Estates
Exposure: $750k against The Big Bottling Company

This case dates to 2016 when AJE still owned TBBC. The land was bought by TBBC from Zenith Bank. ‘Al due legal
process was followed. However, the land had belonged to Agbara Estates and only by virtue of the company not paying
its debts to Zenith Bank, did the bank take control of the land and re-sell it to TBBC. The previous owners claim that the
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onward sale to TBBC was illegal. They even claimed rent for the land which AJE paid (in the sum of $145k). Zenith Bank
had provided various warranties to TBBC on the sale on the land. TBBC wishes to have this situation rectified by obtaining
repayment of the rent monies and Zenith Bank should be liable for all costs associated with the claims made by Agbara.

3. Employment Claim
Exposure: $47k against The Big Bottling Company

The regional sales manager who was covering the Eastern and Southemn States, Ogbo Chris Agbo, is claiming against
TBBC for unpaid salary and related expenses and relocation allowance. He claims that he resigned on 8 November 2019
but that TBBC did not accept his resignation and continued to engage him until 2021 and therefore is of the view she
should be entitled to all the necessary employment benefits during that time. TBBC denies this allegation and asserts he
left the premises following his resignation and did not engage in work for them.

4. Tripod
Exposure: $66k against BBC

Sometime in February 2019, BBC engaged Tripod (“The Complainant”) to supply and Install six (6) units of industrial
Air-Conditioners in TBBC’s factory located at Agbara, Ogun State (“the project”). It was agreed per the Purchase Order
(PO-1859 dated 9th February 2019) that the project would be delivered on 10th February 2019. However, despite being
advanced 60% of the contract sum, Tripod delivered 90% of the project and TBBC is disputing paying anything further.
Parties are currently in mediation.

37. [Events after the reporting date

Adjustin
1. ’ Lonfho Holdings Limited entered into an addendum to the “Gulflog SPA” where the right to share in Luba Freeport profits
by Lonrho Holdings Limited over the next five years was disposed of to Gulflog Africa for $7.5m. The proceeds were
allocated as follows:
e  $5.3m as settlement of loan owing by Lonrho Africa (Holdings) Limited - UK to Lonrho Holdings Limited. The
loan was identified as conduit to absorb the share in profits from Luba Freeport.
e $2.2m in excess of the loan outstanding was allocated as proceeds for the disposal of the rights Lonrho Holdings
Limited .
o The excess proceeds of $2.2m received resulted in Lonrho Holdings Limited recognising a profit on disposal of
Lonrho Africa (Holdings) Limited - UK to the value of $0.7m during 2022. Refer to note 13.

Non-adjusting
1. The Group concluded the disposal the asset held for sale, Atlantis Food Holdings, for $12.5 million during May 2023. The
proceeds were allocated to the loan receivable of $4.2m and asset held for sale of $8.3m. Refer note 14.

2. The Group entered into two share buybacks during 2023. As a result, the only shareholders remaining as at the date of
these financial statements are BIH SA and Rainer-Marc Frey. The share buyback is part of a strategic process undertaken
where the existing shareholders are exiting the Group. The new shareholders are expected to take over the management of
the Group during the fourth quarter of 2023.

Shareholders were paid an average share price of $0.096 per share. The share buybacks were funded by a reduction in
share premium with a cumulative net decline in reserves attributable to parent shareholders of $60.7m.

3. The Group did not participate in a capital raise by TBBC, an associate investment as at 31 December 2022. As a result, the
Group’s effective holding decreased from 37.03% to 13.58%. The carrying value of the invested was impaired to $nil as
at 31 December 2022. Refer note 17.

4. Lonrho Holding Limited, the company, entered a transaction selling Lonrho Africa Holdings Limited Mauritius to Evan
Edwards and Sean Walbridge towards the end of September 2023 for $2.0m. The latter investors became the ultimate
controlling party of Lonrho Africa Holdings Limited Mauritius and its subsidiaries. They were also appointed on the Board
of Directors for Lonrho Holdings Limited following the resignation of the previous Board of Directors on 30 June 2023.
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